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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF EM
MIDCO2Z LIMITED

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF EM MIDCO2 LIMITED

Opinion

We have audited the financia! statements of EM Midco2 Limited (“the parent company’} and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for
the period ended 31 December 2022 which comprise the Consolidated statement of profit or loss, the Consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the Consolidated statement of changes in equity, the Consolidated statement of
financial position, the Consolidated statement of cash flows and the related notes 1 to 31, including a summary of significant
accounting policies, the Company statement of financial position, the Company statement of changes in equity and the
related notes a to m, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framewark that has been
applied in their preparation is applicable law and UK adopted International Accounting Standards and as regards the parent
company financial statements, FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice).

In our opinion:

. the financial statements give a true and fair view of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31
Dacember 2022 and of the group’s loss for the period then ended;

. the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UX adopted International Accounting
Standards;

. the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice; and

. the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK} {i5As {UK}} and applicable law. Qur
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report, We are independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulifilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements,

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in

the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or canditions
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group and parent company’s ability to continue as a going
concern for a period to 31 December 2024.

Cur responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report., However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a
guarantee as to the group's ability to continue as a going concern.

Other information

The other information comprises the infoermation included in the annual repert, other than the financial statements and our

auditor’s report thereon, The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report.

Cur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in this report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Qur responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or otherwise appears to be
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPCORT TO THE MEMBERS OF EM
MIDCO2 LIMITED (continued)

materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to
determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the cther information, we are required to report
that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the wark undertaken in the course of the audit:

. the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial period for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

. the strategic report and directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements,

fvtatters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and its environment obtained in the
course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic repert or directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to
report to you if, in our opinion:

. adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or

. the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
. certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

. we have not received all the information and expianations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 70, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company’s ability
to continue as a going cancern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes cur opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high leve| of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 15As (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities. including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations, We design procedures in line with
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect irregularities, including fraud. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment
by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. The extent to which our procedures are
capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below, However, the primary responsibility for the prevention
and detection of fraud rests with both those charged with governance of the entity and management.
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Qur approach was as follows:

*  We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the Group and determined
that the most significant are these that relate to the reporting framework (UK adopted International Accounting
Standards, FRS 101 and the Companies Act 2006) and the relevant tax compliance regulations in the jurisdictions in
which the Group operates. In addition, we concluded that there are certain significant laws and regulations in relation
to health and safety, employee matters, environmental matters and anti-bribery and corruption practices across the
various jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

*  We understood how the Group is complying with those frameworks by making enquiries of management including those
responsible for legal and compliance procedures and the Company Secretary. We corroborated our enguiries through
our review of papers provided to the Board and Audit Committee, and consideration of the results of our audit
procedures across the Group.

s Based on this understanding we designed cur audit procedures to identify non-compliance with such laws and
regulations. Our procedures included a review of board minutes to identify any non-compliance with laws and
regulations; a review of the reporting to the Audit Committee on compliance with regulations; review of legal
documents; and enquiries of in-house and external general counsel, those charged with governance and management.
We involved our own legal experts on any more complex begal matters. If we identify instances of non-compliance, we
understand how management and those charged with governance have responded to them, including understanding
the remediation actions taken, through enguiry of management and inspection of relevant documentation and
carrespondence. We also consider the appropriateness of the accounting for the impacts of any such non-compliance,
and the adequacy of the financial statement disclosures.

»  We assessed the susceptibility of the Group’s financial statements to material misstatement, including how fraud might
occur by: meeting with management from various parts of the business to understand where it considered there was
susceptibility to fraud; discussing the matter with the Audit Committee; reviewing documentaticn of the Group’s policies
and procedures including the Group Code of Conduct; and assessing whist!eblowing incidences for those with a potential
financial reporting impact. We also considered performance targets and whether they might influence management te
manipulate revenue and/or adjusted EBITDA. As a result, we identified fraud risks relating to manipulation of accrued
income, classification of Separately Disclosed Items {SDIs} and possible management override of controls in relation to
accruals and provisions. We considered the cantrols that the Group has established to address the risks identified, or
that otherwise prevent, deter or detect fraud; and how senior management monitors those controls. We designed our
audit procedures to respond to the identified risks. For ail components for which accrued revenue was in scope, our
precedures included challenging and understanding any judgments made about stage of completion of projects and
obtaining support far a sample of projects, as well as performing analytical review over the balances. In relation to SDls,
our procedures included obtaining third party support for the nature and amaounts of a sample of SDIs and assessing
whether the classification as SDIs is in line with the accounting policy and appropriate between categories and
challenging management where required in refation te the classification. For accruals and provisions, our procedures
included understanding the basis of estimates made, forming expectations and using analytical procedures to compare
actual variances and trends to our expectations, considering the historic accuracy of management’s estimates compared
to the eventual cash outflows and, where available, corroborating inputs to the provision calculations to third party
evidence.

A further description of our respensibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting
Council’'s website at https://www.fre.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
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Use of our report

This report is made sclely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006. OQur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are
required o state to themin an auditor’s report and for no other purpose, To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a bedy, for our audit
waork, for this report, or for the cpinions we have formed.

DocuSigned by:

Enst & Young LLP

9C51FB1EQOGF4BS .

Cameron Cartmell {Senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor
London

28 September 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Period ended 31 December 2022

EM Midco2 Limited

- . Adjusted Separately
Cantinuing Operations 1 .
. o Note Results disclosed Total
{in US % million) .
items
Revenue from contracts with customers 607.1 - 607.1
Staff costs (277.0) {14.7} (291.7)
Impairment of goodwill 12 - {544.9) (544.9)
Depreciation and Amortization 13,14, 24 (111.9) - {111.9)
Other operating expenses 4 (199.8) {70.5) {270.3)
Operating Profit / (Loss)? 4 18.4 (830.1) (611.7)
Finance income 9 503 - 50.3
Finance costs 10 {159.3) - {159.3)
Share of profit of associates and joint 0.8 - 0.8
ventures
Loss before tax ({89.8) (630.1) (719.9)
Taxation 11 6.9 4.8 11.7
Loss for the period (82.9) (625.3} (708.2)
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent (83.1) {625.3) (708.4)
Nan-controlling interest G.2 0.2
Loss for the period {82.9) (625.3) {708.2)

L Refer to note 4 for Adjusted EBITDA and analysis of separately disclosed items.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Period ended 31 December 2022

EM Midco? Limited

Note uUs Smillien
Loss for the period (708.2)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension schemes 23 {1.3)
Deferred tax credit on items recognized in other comprehensive income 0.6
Total items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss {0.7)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Foreign exchange translation difference of foreign cperations 3.7
Total items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 3.7
Total comprehensive loss for the period (705.2)
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent {705.4)
Non-controlling interest 0.2
Total comprehensive loss for the period (705.2)
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EM Midco? Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2022

Note Us $Smillion
Non-current assets
Goodwill 12 4,468.8
Other intangible assets 13 1,273.7
Property, plant and equipment 14 6236
Right of use assets 24 165.9
Investment in associates and joint ventures 15 5.9
Derivative financial instruments 22 54.8
Other non-current assets 2.9
6,595.6
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 16 3184
Contract assets 50.8
Inventories 5.7
Incame tax receivable 11 6.4
Cash and cash equivalents 17 1343
515.6
Current liabilities
Trade payables {44.3)
Other payables 18 {174.9)
Lease liabilities 24 {28.6)
Tax liahilities 11 {7.4)
Provisions 19 {12.2)
Deferred and contingent consideration 21 {9.3)
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 20 {141.3)
{418.0)
Net current assets 97.6
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EM Midcoz2 Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As al 31 December 2022

Non-current fiahilities

Interest bearing loans and boarrowings 20 (2,083.2)
Retirement benefit obligation 23 (4.8)
Provisions 19 (58.2)
Lease liabilities 24 (131.7)
Deferred tax fiabilities 11 {198.3)
Corporation tax 11 (2.4)
Contingent consideration 21 {13.8)
Other payables 18 {879.0)
(3,371.4)
Net Assets 3,321.8
Equity
Share capital 26 0.4
Share premium 26 4,013.2
Transiation reserves 37
Share based payment reserve 1.9
Retained earnings {709.1)
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent 3,310.1
Non-controlling interests 27 11.7
Total shareholders’ equity 3,321.8

The financial staterments of EM Midco2 Limited (Company registration number 13856338) were approved by the Board of
Directors and authorized for issue on 26 September 2023, They were signed on its behalf by:

&-«/L(&

Ruth Prior
Director
26 September 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Period ended 31 December 2022

EM Midco2 Limited

Note US Smiltion
Cash flows from operating activities
Net lass for the period {708.2)
Adjustments for:
{(Profit)/loss on disposal af pronerty, plant and cquipment 4 (1.5)
Finance income 9 (0.4)
Finance costs 10 151.9
Income tax credit recognized in profit and loss 11 (11.7)
Impairment of goodwill 12 5449
Foreign currency translation adjustments 9 7.2
Amaortization of other intangible assets 13 47.2
FV Loss / Gain - Derivatives 9 (49.9)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14 459
Share of profit of an associate and a joint venture 15 {0.8)
Fair value lass on contingent consideration re-measurement 21 {4.1)
Non cash movement in provision 19 7.7
Depraciation of right of use assets 24 18.8
Share based payment 26 19

48.9

Movements in working capital:
Increase in trade and other receivables 12.1
Decrease in trade and other payables (139.1)
Lash generated from operations (78.1)
Income taxes paid (4.5)
Net cash flows from operating activities (82.6)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of intangible assets 13 {6.7)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment {53.1)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 3.6
Cash autflow on deferred and contingent consideration 21 {241.6)
Fayment for Investment in Asscciated Companies {0.5)
Dividand Received 15 23
Cash outflow on business acquisitions {net of cash acquired) 5 {3,623.5)
Net cash used in investing activities {3,919.5)
Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid 20 {76.2)
Drawdown of barrowings 20 1,336.6
Repayment of borrowings 20 {1,763.4)
Payment for debt issue costs 20 (81.5)
Amounts received from group companies 774.4
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities {19.4)
Proceeds from issue of shares 26 3,965.5
Dividands paid to non-controlling interests 27 (0.9}
Net cash generated by financing activities 4,135.1
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 133.0
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period -
Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 1.3
Cash and cash equivaients at the end of the period 17 134.3
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EM Midco? Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1

T b e e s aemd ..
SraAve e T DT LITE = 3T 2T

The consolidated financia! statements of EM Midco2 Limited (the “Campany”) and its subsidiaries {together referred to as
the “Group”), have been prepared in accordance with UK adopted International Reperting Accounting Standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The Group is a global provider of testing, inspection and certification services for a diverse range of materials and products.

The accounting policies under UK adopted International Reporting Accounting Standards are included in the relevant notes
to the consclidated financial statements.

The Company was incorporated on the 181 of January 2022. This is the first pericd that financial statements are being
prepared for the Company, and therefore no comparative information is presented.

The Company and entities controlied by the Company {its subsidiaries, together the “Group”) are disclosed in Note 31.

The Company is a private company incorporated and domiciled i England and Wales. The Campany’s registered office is The
scalpel 18" Floor, 52 Lime Street, Londen, England, United Kingdom EC3M 7AF.

The financia! statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorized for issue on 26 September 2023,

P
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The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are described below.

These policies have been consistently applied to all periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair vajue at the end of each reporting period. Presentation currency of the
financial statements is United States Dollars {US $) which is the Company’s functional currency. All information provided in
United States Dollars [US $} has been rounded to the nearest hundred thousand, unless otherwise stated.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Tris opdoomsa dano

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each year. Control is achieved when the Company:

*  has power over the mvestee;
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable return from its invelvement with the investee; and
. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changeas to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the period are inciuded in the consolidated statement of profit ar
loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to
control the subsidiary. Profit or [oss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into
line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between the members of the Group are eliminated on cansolidation. Non-controlling interests in
subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein.

The interests of non-controlling shareholders that represent ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets upon liguidation may initially be measured at fair value or at the non-contrelling interests’ proportionate
share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

84



EM Midco?l Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The choice of measurement is made on an acguisition-by-acquisition basis. Other non-controlling interests are initiaily
measured at fair value. Subseguent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-contreiling interests is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition pius the non-contralling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not resultin a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amount of the Group’s interests and Lhe non-controlling interests’ share are adjusted to reflect the changes in
thair relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-centrolling interests are
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to the owners
of the Company.

The Group has a number of joint arrangements where more than half of the voting power is not owned. As the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with these companies and has the ability to use its controlling
powar over these companies to affect the amount of the company returns, these investments are accounted for as
subsidiaries.

The Group's subsidiaries and associated companies which are included in the consolidated financial statements are listed in
Note 31,

A full description of the Group's business activities, financial position, cash flows, liquidity position, committed facilities and
borrowing position, together with the factors hikely to affect its future development and performance, is set aut in the
Strategic Report, including the Financial Review, and in note 22 to the financial statements.

The Group’s business activities, together with factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are
considered by the Directars on an annual basis. In addition, notes 20 and 22 include details of the Group's treasury activities,
long-term funding arrangements, financial instruments, and financial risk management activities.

During the period to 31 December 2022 the Group incurred a loss of US $708.2 million which 1s mainly driven by finance
costs of US $159.3 million and non-cash items such as depreciation and amortization of US $111.9 million and impairment
of goodwill of US $544.9 million. Management’s key focus is the adjusted EBITDA for the peried which was US 5124.7 million.
The operating loss for the period was US $611.7 million.

The net current asset position as of 31 December 2022 was US 597 6 million and overall net debt (excluding deferred
financing fees) was US $2,302.8 million. Net cash used in operating activities was US $82.6 millicn with closing cash of
US $134.3 million.

As highlighted in note 22 to the Group financial statements, the Group meets its day-to-day working capital requirements
from the cash flows generated by its trading activities and its available cash resources. These are supplemented when
required by additional drawings under the Group’s revolving credit facilities and capex/acquisition facilities. On the
31 December 2022, the Group had credit facilities of US $400.0 million, of which US 5137 million had been drawn down
leaving US $263 million undrawn facility available. At the date of signing these accounts the undrawn facility availakle has
reduced to US $47.1 million as a result of a further drawdown of US $192.9 million from the capex/acquisition facilities. The
drawdown was made to fund acquisitions and future investments. The Group held cash of US $148.5 million as at the 30 July
2023.

The Directors befieve that the Group is well placed ta manage its business risks successfully, despite the current uncertain
economic outlook, The Group's forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading
performance, show that the Group would be able to operate within the level of its current committed facilities As part of a
regular assessment of the Group’s working capital and financing position, the Directors have prepared a detailed bottom-up
trading budget and cash flow forecast for the period through 31 December 2024.
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In assessing the going concern status, the Directors have considered:

s Global economic downturn impacting underlying end-markets

e Susceptibility to inflation and interest rate movements

»  The status of the Group's existing and future credit arrangements

. lechnelogieal disruption due to simulation and software potentially reducing traditional testing and/or outsourcing
of testing activities

. Difficulties in recruiting/retaining technical talent to support organic growth,

¢ Delivery of NTS synergies, and

. Overall margin pressure due to significant cost inflation, and the availability of mitigating actions including price
increases and managing capital expenditure

The Directors have considered the potential impacts of the conflict in Ukraine on our business, assessing possible supply
chain disruptians ard evaluating risks to future earnings. At this stage we do not anticipate a material impact to the
Group’s performance. However, if the Group is impacted, we are confident that mitigating actions and cost management
plans within management’s contro! could be implemented to atleviate risk.

The going concern assessment takes into account the Group's cash flow and available undrawn credit facilities. Based on the
going concern assessment performed over the period to 31 December 2024, the Directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Group will continue in operation, settle its liabilities as they fall due, and remain compliant with banking facilities
and have adequate liquidity to trade. The going concern period is consistent with the bottom-up trading budget and cash
flow forecast.

Sensitivity analyses have been performed on the forecasts to consider the impact of severe, but plausibie, reasonable waorst-
case scenarios on the headraom on cash and available credit facilities. These scenarios, which sensitized the forecasts fer
the reduction in anticipated levels of underlying EBITDA and the associated increase in net debt. This scenario is the sustained
decline in Group performance due to a variety of macroeconomic issues inciuding, but not limited to, cost inflation and is
modelled on an 16% reduction in EBITDA in 2023 and 16% reduction to 31 December 2024.

Throughout this downside scenario, the Group continues to have significant liquidity headroom on its new debt
commitments and existing faciiities and against the revolving credit facility covenants.

Further considerations were made to the financial and operational impact of plausible downside scenarios occurring
individually or in combination. These included the impacts of a further deterioration in the macro-economic environment,
underperfarmance in executing the Group's strategy and failure to deliver operationat improvements, Consideration was
also given to the plausibility of the accurrence of other individual events that could have a material impact on the Group’s
going concern status.

The Directors adopted the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.
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The Group has adapted all the new and revised UK adopted International Accounting Standards and interpretations that are
relevant to its operations and effactive for accounting periods covered by the financial statements.

At the date of authorization of the financial statements, the following standards and interpretations that are potentially
relevant to the Group and which have not yet been applied in these reported resufts were 1n 1ssue but not yet effective {and
n some cases had not yet been adopted by the UK Endorsement Board):

- Amendments to 1AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, Classification of Liahilities as Current or Non-current—
effective from periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

- Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors — effective from periods
heginning on or after 1 January 2023

- Amendmants to iAS 1, Disclosure of Accounting Policies - applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023

- Amendments to IAS 12, Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction - applicable
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

- Amendments to 1AS 12: Internatienal Tax Reform Pillar Two Mode! Rules

The Group intends to adopt these new and amended standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become
effective. It is not expected that the adaption of these standards and amendments wifl have a materiagl impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Pillar Two changes noted above will be effective for
periods from 3024 enwards and will impact the Group effective tax rate. The expected impact of these rules will be modelled
in detail.

BT SRR R B TR T STl SR S TSI bt 2 ol DS T A= R

The Group recognizes revenue from the rendering of materials and product qualification testing, inspection, certification,
calibration and services pursuant to wntten contracts with its customers. These services are recognized through the autput
method of revenue recognition as the performance obligations are satisfied over ime. Revenue is measured at the fair value
of the cansideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for services provided in the normal course of
business, net of VAT and other sales-related taxes.

Revenue is reduced for estimated and agreed liquidated damages resulting from failure to meet the agreed service
performance levels set out in the contract. For short term contracts with single performance obligations, customers are billed
in accordance with the contractual terms and revenue Is recognized as the performance obligations are satisfied.

Revenue from short-term contracts is generally recognized when the relevant service is compieted. that is when the report
of findings or test/inspection certificate is issued. Short-term contracts are considerad to be those that have a duration of
less than twa months.

The Group recognizes revenue on long term contracts with multiple performance obligatians as each performance obligation
is satisfied, with the corresponding amount being included in trade receivables if the customer has been invoiced and the
amount is unconditional, or as a contract asset, if billing has yet to be completed. Performance obligations vary across
business lines and regions, and on a contract-by-contract basis. Long term cantract durations vary frem two months to
multiple years.

Busmess co~n armrr,
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The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liahilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interest issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are
recognized within operating expenses in the statement of profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

- deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or habilities refated to employee benefit arrangements are recognized and
measured in accordance with 1AS 12 lncorie Taxes and 1AS 19 Employee Benefits respectively.
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Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously heid equity interest in the acquiree {if any} over the net of the
acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the
acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controiling interests in the acquiree and the fair vaiue of the acquirer’s previously held
interest in the acguiree [if any), the excess is recognized immediately in the statement of prefit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes an asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration s measured at its acquisition date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a husiness combination. Changes in fair value of a contingent
consideration qualifying as measurement pericd adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments
against goocdwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additianal informaticn obtained during
the ‘measurement period’ {which cannct exceed one year from the acquisition date) abeut facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date.

Subsequent accounting for changes in fair value of contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period
adjustments depend on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or g liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

When a business combinationis achieved in stages, the Groug’s previgusly held interests in the acquired entity is remeasured
1o its acquisition date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized in the statement of profit or loss. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree pricr to the acquisition date that have previously been recognized in other
comprehensive income are reciassified to the statement of profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that
interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional
amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognized, to reflect
new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have
affected the amounts recognized at that date.

L
L

Goodwill

Geoodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units {(or groups of cash-
generating units) that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

Geodwill which has been allocated to a cash-generating unit or groug of cash-generating unit is tested for impairment
annueglly, or more frequently when there is an indication that the goodwill may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of
the goodwill is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill aliocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognized directly in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On dispoesal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the
profit or loss on disposal.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment
losses, if applicable. The estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, if
necessary, any changes in estimates are accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Intangibie assets acquired in a business combination and recognized separately from goodwill are initially recognized at their
fair value at the acquisition date, together with any related deferred tax liability. Amaortization is charged on a straight-iine
basis to the statement of profit or loss over the expected useful economic lives as follows:

Customer relationships 5-20 years
Technology 5-10 years
Trade names 10 years
Software 1-4vyears

The internal costs directly attributable to the development of software and infrastructure projects are capitalized as “other
intangible assets” if the future economic benefits to the Group are reasonably certain. The capitalized costs are amortized
on a straight-line basis over the expected useful econemic life of the asset.

An intangible asset is derecognized on disposal, or when no further economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measuraed as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the net carrying amount of the asset, are recognized in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognized.

Cloud computing arrangements

In a cloud computing arrangement, the Group is granted a right to access software and other technology capabilities at a
third-party provider through the internet. These arrangements typically do not allow the Group to acquire, take pgssession
or contral the underlying assets of the provider. Costs associated with cloud computing arrangements are generally expensed
as incurred because they generally do not meet software capitalization criteria.

Where costs incurred to configure or customize Cloud computing arrangements result in the ¢reation of a resource which is
identifiable, and where the Group has the power to obtain the future economic benefits flowing from the underlying
resource and to restrict the access of others to those benefits, such casts are recognized as a separate intangible software
asset and amortised over the useful life of the software on a straight-line basis. The amortization pericd is reviewed at least
at the end of each reporting period and any changes are treated as changes in accounting estimates.

Where costs incurred to configure or customise do not result in the recognition of an intangible software asset, then those
costs that provide the Group with a distinct service {in addition to the accass) are recognised as expenses when the supplier
provides the services, When such costs incurred do not provide a distinct service, the costs are recognised as expenses over
the duration of the Cloud based arrangement.

The Group evaluates a cloud computing arrangement to determine if it provides a resource that the Group can control. The
Group determines that a software license intangible asset exists in a cloud computing arrangement when both cf the
following are met at the inception of the arrangement:

e The Group has the contractual right to take possession of the software during the hosting period without significant
penalty. And

. It is feasible for the Group to run the software on its own hardware or contract with another party unrelated to the
supplier to host the software.

The Group capitalizes costs to migrate software from on-premise data centers to the public cloud when the software is either
rebuilt specifically for the cloud or has been significantly optimized to run in a cloud environment.

v 3 2 - - e 4 oy - - - N -
2.8 Imoairmert of property, piant and equigment and othor ints

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and eguipment and other
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
lass, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasanable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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Otiver inlangible assets with indehnite useful lives and other intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment at Jeast annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than it’s carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount, An impairment loss is recognized
immediately in the statement of profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or a cash-generating unit is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment {oss been recognized for the asset or cash-generating unit in
prior years, A reversal of an impairment loss 15 recognized irnmediately in the statement of profit or loss.

1 o-
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in preparing the Group’s financial statements, transactions in currencies other than the Group's presentational currency
(foreign currencies) are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retransiated at the rates prevailing
at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange diffarences on monetary items are recognized in the statement of prefit or loss in the period in which they arise
except for:

« exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive use,
which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those
foreign currency barrowings;

. exchange differences on transactions enterad into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

« exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable tc a foreign operatian for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investmentin the foreign operation), which are
recognized initially in other comprehensive income and raclassified from equity to the statement of profit or loss on
repayment of the monetary items.

For the purpases of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations
are transiateq using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. inceme and expense items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognized in cther
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity and attributed to nen-controlling interests as appropriate.

On the disposal of a foreign operation {i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of contrel over a subsidiary that includes a foreign aperation, a disposal invelving loss of joint control cver a
jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal invelving loss of significant influence over an asscciate
that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Group are reclassified to the statement of profit or loss

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on Iidentifiable assets and liabilities acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at
the end of each reporting peried. Exchange differences arising are recognized in equity.

A0 Fmaar gt asrra o ons = dorpstves

The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments far trading purposes. The Group enters inta derivative
financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate risk. The Group does not apply hedge accounting.

Derivative financial instruments are recognized initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative financial
instruments are stated at fair velue at each statement of financial position date.
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The gain or loss on ra-measurement to fair value is recognized immediately in the statement of profit or loss.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognized as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is
recognized as a financial liability. A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining
maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realized or settled within 12 manths. Other
derivatives are presented as current assets or current liabilities.

deqguly nstram
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Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liahilities or &s equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. Refer to note 26.

Saqutty nsirummong

An equity instrument is any contraecl Lhat evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct issue casts.

No gain or loss is recognized in the statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own
equity instruments.
D20t 5%0am 00 £051s
Finance costs of debt, including premiums payable on settlement and direct issue costs, are charged to the statement of
profit or loss on an accruals basis over the term of the instrument, using the effective interest method, where it is materialiy
different to the straight line method.

[
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Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs,

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, with interest
expense recognized on an effective yield basis.

Fen o BN e sy b e
o In ot s an s L ahine

The Group and the Company derecognize financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s and the Company’s
obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial fiability
derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is recognized in the statement of profit or toss.

JlZ2Feaeo t, phant and equip ment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

The cost of property, plant and equipment is the purchase cost, together with any directly attributable costs. Costs include
professional fees and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalized in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.

Depreciation is provided on all tangibie fixed assets other than land, at rates calculated to write off the cost or valuation, less
estimated residual value, of each asset on a straight-line basis over its expected useful life, as foilows:

Buiidings 2-5%
Leasehold improvements Lower of useful life or contractual lease term
Plant and equipment 6-33%

Assets under the course of construction are classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready far its intended use. Depreciation of these assets is determined by its asset categery and commences
when the assets are completed and ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future ecenomic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the assel Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
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plant and equipment Is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognized in the statement of profit or ioss.

2 PBrna a2

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obiigation, legal or constructive, as a resuit of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle the cbligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the

okligatian.

The best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting peried is
measured by considering the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision i{s measured using the
cash flows estimated to settie the present obligation, it's carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows when the
effect of the time value of money is material.

Arestructuring provision is recognized when the Group has developed a detailed formal plan for restructuring and has raised
a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing
its main features tu Lhuse allecled by It. The measurement ot a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures
arising from the restructuring which are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not
associated with the on-going activities of the Group.

When some or all the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received, and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.

Sold e g

The Group holds leases primarily on land, buildings and motoer vehicles used in the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease hability at the commencement date of the contract for all leases conveying the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time. The commencement date is the date on which a lessor
makes an underlying asset available for use by a lessee.

All leases where the Group is the lessee (except for low-value lease arrangements) are recognized in the statement of
financial position. A lease liability is recognized based on the present value of the future lease payments, and a corresponding
right-of-use asset is recognized. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or the useful life of
the asset. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and a reduction of the lease liability.

The right-cf-use assets are initially measured at cost, which comprises:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;
. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received; and,
. any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee.

After the commencement date the right-of-use assets are measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease hability.

The Group depreciates the right-of-use asset over the shorter of the useful life and the lease term, given as the
commencement date to the end of the lease term. The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at that date. These inciude:

+ fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable; and
L variable lease payments that depend on a fixed rate, as at the commencement date.

The leases held by the Group are split into two categories: property and non-property. The Group leases various properties,
principally offices and laboratories, which have varying terms and renewal rights that are typical to the territory in which
they are located. Non-property includes afl other leases, such as motor vehicles, printers and other small office equipment,

The Group has several fease contracts that inciude extension and termination options, The Group evaluates whether it is
reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease. After the commencement date,
the Group reassessas the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and
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affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate {e.g.. construction of significant leasehold
improvemeants or significant customisation to the leased asset).

Varizhle lease payments not included in the initial measurement of the lease liability are recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit er loss as they arise.

The lease payments are discounted using the merermental borrowing rate at the commencement of the lease contract or
modification. Generally, it is not possible to determine the interest rate implicit in the land and building leases. The
incremental borrowing rate is estimated taking account of the economic environment of the lease, the currency of the lease
and the lease term. The lease term determined by the Group comprises:

+ nan-cancellable period of lease contracts;
. periods covered by an option to extend the lease if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and
s periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the Group is reasonahbly certain not to exercise that aption.

After the commencement date the Group measures the lease liability by

¢ increasing the carrying amount to refiect interest on the lease liabihty;
e reducing the carrying amount to reflect lease payments made; and
*  remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications.

The right-of-use asset and lease liability balances are calculated with reference to the underlying functional currency and
then translated to USD.

A S o NI I o
Payments te defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recegnized as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as
payments to defined contribution schemes where the Group’s obligations under the schemes are equivalent te those arising

in a defined cantribution retirement benefit scheme.

The Group operates several defined benefit plans in the UK, Sweden and Germany all of which require contributions to be
made to separately administered funds or insurance schemes. The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans
are determined using actuarial valuations that are carried out at the end of each reporting periocd. Re-measurement of
actuarial gains and losses, and the return on scheme assets (excluding interest) are recognized immediately in the statement
of financial position with a charge or credit to the statement of comprehensive income in the period which they occur. Re-
measurement recorded in the statement of comprehensive income is not recycled. Past service costs are recognized in the
statement of profit or loss in the period of scheme amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying a discount rate to the
defined benefit liability or asset. Defined benefit costs are split into three categories:

. Current service cost, past service cost and gains and losses on curtailments and settlements;
*  Netinterest expense or income; and
. Re-rmeasurement

The current and past service costs are presented within operating expenses in the conselidated statement of profit ar loss.
Curtailment gains and losses are accounted for as past-service costs.

Net interest expense or income is recognized within finance costs.

The retirement benefit abligation recognized in the censolidated statement of financial position represents the deficit or
surplus in the Group’s defined benefit schermes. Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the present value of
economic benefits availabie in the form of refunds from the schemes or reductions in the future contributions to the
schemes.

A liability for a termination benefit is recognized at the earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the
termination benefit and when the entity recognizes any related restructuring costs.
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The holding company of the Group, EM Topco Limited, provides benefits to employees and Directors in the form of cash-
settled share-based payment transactions, whereby employees and Directers render services in exchange for amounts that
are based on valuation of EM Topco Limited shares.

The Group has no obligation to settle the transaction, and therefore accounts for the transaction as equity settled in line
with requirements of IFRS 2.

In valuation of share-based payments, the fair value of the employee servicas rendered is determined by reference to the
fair vaiue of the EM Topco shares, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions. All share options are valued
using an optign-pricing maodel (Black-Scholes or Mante Carlo}. This fair value is charged to the inceme statement over the
vesting period of the share-based payment scheme. The value of the charge is adjusted in the income statement over the
remainder of the vesting period to reflect expected and actual fevels of options vesting, with the corresponding adjustments
made in equity.
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The Group accrues for all short-term accumulating compensated balances such as holiday entitlement earned but not taken
at the statement of financial position date.

Sindasmaniaaiien. U3 ot

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash on hand and demand deposits and other short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

PR

IAS 20 sets out the principle for the recognition, measurerment, presentation and disclosure of government grants.
Government grants that are not related to assets are credited to the consolidated profit or loss statement as a deduction of
the related expenses. Government grants are recognized when there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received, and all attached conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognized as
income over the period necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate.

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if they have the ability, directly or indirectly to control the Group or exercise
significant influence over the Group in making financial or operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group is subject
to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

220 Trade rocovaly'as

Trade receivables are recognized by the Group and the Company carried at eriginal invoice amount less an allowance for any
non-collectable or impaired amounts. The Group uses the IFRS 9 expected credit loss ("ECL”) model to measure loss

allowances at an amount equal to their ifetime expected credit loss.

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach i calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
astablished a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

[R¥]

2 Tadeuisartey

Trade payabies are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
method.
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2 23 Borrowings

Interest bearing loans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges,
including premiums on settiement or redemption and direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accrual basis in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss using the effective interest rate method and are added to the carrying amount of
the instrument Lo Lhe extent thal they are not settled in the period in which they arise.

2.24 Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consclidated statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s tiability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or subsequently enacted at the statement of financial position date.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consohidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognized for zli taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or fram the initial recognition {other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are only recagnized to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year in which the liability is
settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflect the tax consequences that would foilow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover ar settle the carrying ameount of
its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognized in the statement of profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accaunting for a business combination, the tax effect is incfuded in the accounting for the business combination.

2. 25 Joimntvontures and intorost 1n associatos

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties have joint centrol of the arrangement and have rights to
the net assets of the sure. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of contro! of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities requires consent of the parties sharing control.

An associate is an entity over which the group is in a position to exercise significant influence, Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or jeint controf over
thaose decisions.
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The Group’s investments in joint ventures and associates are accounted four using the equity method. Under the equity
method, the investment in a joint venture or associate is initially recognized at cost. The carrying amount of the investment
is adjusted to recognize changes in the Group's share of net assets of the joint venture or associate since the acguisition
date. Goodwill relating to the joint venture or associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not tested
for impairment individually. The statement of profit or ioss reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the joint
venture or associate. Any change in ather comprehensive income of those investees is presanted as part of the Group's other
comprehensive income. n addition, when there has been a change recognized directly in the pquty of the joint venture or
associate, the Group rerngnizes its share of any chauges, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity.

Unrealized gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the joint venture or associate are eliminated
to the extent of the interest in the joint venture or associate. The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of a joint
venture or associate is shown on the face of the statement of profit or loss, where material.

Contingent consideration arises when settlement of all or any part of the cost of a business combination is deferred and
becomes payable only when the acquiree meets certain financial performance criteria at a date pre-determined on the date
of acquisition. It is stated at fair value at the date of acquisition which is determined by discounting the amount due te
present value at that date. It is measured at fair value through profit and loss subsequent to acquisition. Where material,
interest is calculated on the fair value of non-interest-bearing deferred consideration at the discount rate and expensed
within interest payable and similar charges. At each statement of financial position date, contingent consideration comprises
the remaining contingent consideration valued at acquisition plus any fair value remeasurements and interest calculated on
such amounts from acquisition to the statement of financial position date.

Any changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration is recognized in the statement of profit or loss with the
exception of business combinations where the change in fair value occurs during the ‘measurement pericd’ (further details
are given in note 2.6).

223 Alsmgn e o f v e e Uunes

In order to present the perfarmance of the Group in a clear, consistent and comparable format, certain items are disclosed
separately in note 4. Separately disclosed Items are items which by their size and/or nature, in the opinion of the Directars,
should be excluded from the adjusted ERITDA to provide readers with a clear and consistent view of the business

performance of the Group and its operating units.

The Group believes that EBITDA before separately disclosed items (termed "adjusted EBITDA") is the most significant
indicator of operating performance and allows a better understanding of the underlying profitability of the Group. The Group
defines adjusted EBITDA as operating profit/(loss) before transaction, acquisition and other income and expense items that
are material by virtue of their size and/or nature, depreciation, amertizaticn, gains/losses on sale of assets and share based
payments.

Adjusted EBITDA, which is a non-GAAP measure, excludes the costs of restructuring activities and integration projects where
they represent fundamental changes in individual operations around the Group and reflect the refinement of our operational
structure. The costs associated with successful, active or aborted acquisitions and share based payment charges are excluded
from adjusted operating profit to provide useful information regarding the underlying performance of the Group's
operations. Other costs include items that, in the Directors’ opinions, should be excluded from adjusted EBITDA. These are
mainly related to consultancy fees incurred on strategic projects and non-recurring tax expenses.

The Directors define separately disclosed items as those expense and income items which fall into one or both of the
following categories:

1. A transaction that results from a corporate activity that has neither a close relationship to our businesses’
operations nar any associated operational cash flows {for example, costs incurred in connection with a refinancing
activity}
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2. A transaction that 1s so material in size and/or nature that it would obscure an understanding of underlying
cutcomes and trends in revenues, costs or other components of performance {for examgle, restructuring activities
and reversals of any provisions for the costs of restructuring}

Alternative performance measures are used as the primary measure of business performance within the Group and align
with the results shown in management accounts, with the key uses being:

1. Management and Board reviews of perfurinance against expectations and over time, including assessments of sector
performance

2. Insupport of business decisions by the Board and by management, encompassing both strategic and operaticnal leveis
of decisiocn-making

3. Assessments of compliance with quarterly leverage test as defined in the Senior Facilities Agreement; and

4. Widely recognized measure of performance and valuation by sharehelders, lenders and stakeholders

The Group's policies on separately disclosed items will be consistently applied over time, but they are not defined by IFRS
and, therefore, likely to differ from separately disclosed measures used by other companies.

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, described in note 2, the Directors are reguired to make judgments
{other than those involving estimations) that have a significant impact on the amounts recognized and to make estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liahilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant, Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that year, or in the year of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

31 Crorrat noosue
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The following are the critical judgments, apart from those invelving estimations {which are dealt with separately below), that
the Directors have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
an the amounts recognized in financial statements.
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In order to present the performance of the Group in a clear, consistent and comparable format, certain items are disclosed
separately on the face of the statement of profit or loss. Separately disclosed Items are items which by thefr size and/or
nature, in the opinion of the Directors, should be excluded from the adjusted EBITDA to provide readers with a clear and
cansistent view of the business performance of the Group and its operating business units.

Further detail is provided in note 4.

Pl e e
Crlesal provisaing

The Group is subject to litigation and other claims in the ordinary course of its business. Judgement is required in assessing
the likelihcod of cash outflows arising as a result of such matters and the timing of any potential outflows. Management
bases its judgement on the circumstances relating to each specific claim or instance of litigation, internal and external legal
advice, knowledge of the industries and markets, prevailing commercial terms and legal precedent, and evaluation of
applicable insurance cover where appropriate. The process of making judgements in respect of these matters around the
timing of potential outflows of cash and the likelihood of payment are complex. The Group's hitigation and other claims are
reviewed, at a minimum, on a quarterly basis by executive management. Further detail is provided in notes 20 and 31.

. iy wd T o P T e
W Jefarrod Tax on acal s tion

The Group recognizes deferred tax on acquired intangibles assets (other than goodwill}. The deferred tax is calculated
using the local tax rate for the relevant location of the intangible asset.

The consolidated opening balance sheet of Element Material Technology Group Limited included US$ 96.6 million of
deferred tax asset recognised in the US on certain acquired intangibles, including goodwill. These intangibles have been
calculated under US tax legislation on historic acquisitions of businesses made in the US. Management concluded that
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these US legacy intangibles are unrelated to the goodwill recognised on the acquisition ¢f the Element Materials
Technology Group Limited by the Group. As a result, the deferred tax asset of US3 96.6 million remained recognized on the
onening balance sheet of Element Materials Technology Group Limited.

The key assumptions concerning the future, and cther key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting period, that
may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year, are discussed below.

. N L EERRI 4 by,
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Goodwill is tested annuaily for impairment or more frequently when there is an indication that the goodwill allocated to a
group of CGUs may be impaired. Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use. The
value in use calculation requires estimation of future cash flows as well as the assumptions about growth rates expected to
arise from the group of cash-generating units and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value.

The fair value of group CGUs used for the purposes of goodwill impairment includes the estimated fair value of future bolt
on acquisitions. The forecast is consistent with past acquisition activities of the legacy Element Group.

The Group performed sensitivity analysis to identify risk associated with goodwill impairment. Note 12 provides further
details of the key assumptions used for the impairment assessment.

[ comed gy e - " B
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Acquired other (ntangible assets and goodwill represented US $1,273.6 million and US $4,468.8 million, respectively, in the
consolidated statement of financial pasition at December 31, 2022. Acquired other intangible assets and goodwill arise out
of business combinations. Business combinations are accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting, which
requires to identify and attribute values to the intangible assets acquired based on their estimated fair value as well as to
estimate their useful lives. These determinations involve significant estimates and assumptions regarding cash flow
projections, econamic risk and weighted average cost of capital. The excess of acquisition cost over the fair value of
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill (Note 5).

LH AU L

At the statement of financial position date tax liabilities and assets are based on management’s best estimate of the future
amounts that will be settled. While the Group aims to ensure that the estimates recorded are accurate, the actual amounts
could be different frem those expected.

The Group recognizes deferred income tax assets for deductible temporary differences and tax loss carry forwards to the
extent that it deems probable such assets will be recoverad in the future. Further detail is provided in note 11.

el Cipidat or provision

Praovisions for dilapidation liabilities are made when there is a present obligation and where it is probable that expenditure
on restoration work will be required and a reliable estimate can be made of the cost.

In estimating the dilapidation liability, Management uses their best estimate regarding cost of restoring operating sites to
their original condition in accordance with the terms aof the lease contracts where relevant. These estimates are reviewed
annually, and the amount expected to be paid on termination or expiry of the leased property is recognized as a dilapidation
provision as at period end. There are significant uncertainties with regards to the timing and final amounts of any future
paymeants. Thase uncertainties can also result in the reversal of previously established provisions once final settlement 1s
reached with the third party. The timing of the cash outflows is expected to be over the next 1-15 years as leases expire.
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4. Adjusted EBITDA and separately disclosed items

The Group believes that EBITDA before separately disclosed items (termed "adjusted EBITDA") is the most significant
indicator of operating performance and allows a better understanding of the underlying profitability of the Group. The Group
defines adjusted EBITDA as operating profit/({loss) before transaction, acquisition and other income and expense items that
are material by virtue of their size and/or nature, depreciation, amortization, gains/losses on sale of assets and share based
payments. Adjusted FBITDA far the period is calculated below:

2022
Reconciltation of consolidated statement of profit or loss to non-statutory measures Note Us $million
Operating loss (611.7)
Add:
Depreciation and Amortisation 111.9
Separately disclosed items 630.1
Impairment of Geodwill 544.9
Costs related to acquisition of Element Materials Technology Group Limited 49.0
Other acquisitions and new business set up costs 22.9
Strategic projects, restructuring and reorganisation of the Group 5.0
Systems Transformation 5.5
Other 2.8
Less:
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (1.5}
Fair value movement on contingent consideration re-measurement 21 (41)
Adjusted EBITDA (Alternative performance measure as defined in note 2.28) 124.7
Adjusted EBITDA margin 20.5%

Costs related to acquisition of Element Materials Technology Group Limited

The acquisition of the Element Materials Technology Group Limited (note 5) in luly 2022 incurred material, one-off buy-side
and sell-side directly attributable transaction fees. Costs incurred relate to externa! due diligence, transaction related
bonuses, internal staff time of those dedicated to the project, professional and legal advisory fees which totaled $49.0
million.

Other acquisitions and new husiness set up costs

Element Materials Technolegy Group Limited successfully completed a number of business combinatians (note 5) in the
period which resulted in directly attributable due diligence, internal staff time of those dedicated to the project, and third
party legal and professional fees. Total costs related to the acquisition of Trialon Corporation, Fosta Pte Limited, Singapore
Test Private Limited, and National Technical systems were US $14.0 million. Furthermore, the Group has incurred integration
costs relating to current year acquisitions (U$ $3.5million), to prior year acquisitions {US $3.4 millicn}, and acquisitions not
completed yet {US $0.8 millian).

In addition to acguisition costs, Element Materials Technology Group Limited incurred set up costs relating to new strategic
business areas which have been treated as separately disclosed until they beceme fully operational. The Directors consider
a business to be fully operational when the locations or revenue stream are substantially accredited with the necessary
regulatory approvals. The Directors do not consider costs associated with the setting up of a new facility or entering a new
service line to be in the ordinary course of business and therefore these costs are presented as separately disclosed items.
Element Materials Technology Group Limited incurred a total of US $1.2 million set up costs in the period.

Strategic restructuring and reorganization of the Group

Element Materials Technology Group Limited incurred US $5.0 miilion restructuring and reorganization costs in the period
due to right-sizing activities across non-core end markets of the business. The costs include severance payments in relation
to permanent reduction in headcount, internal staff time of those dedicated to the project, associated legal and professional
fees incurred during the consultation process, site closure costs and relocation expenses. Included within the reorganization
costs are the exit of non-core businesses.
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System transformation

Element Materiais Technclogy Group Limited embarked on a transformationat IT infrastructure project to implement one
standardized ERP solution across the global organization. The associated implementation costs and migration costs of
existing data and platforms do not meet the criteria for capitalization (note 2.7 — Cloud computing arrangements} and have
been recognized in the consolidated statement of profit er loss as incurred.

Costs incurred in the period totaled U5 $5.5 million and relate to external consultancy costs, professional fees, project
management ¢osts and internal staff time of those dedicated to the project.

Cther

The Group recognized US $1.9 million of share-based payment charge {note 26) related to share-based payment transactions
during the financial peried, included in other separately disclosed items.

The Group incurred US 50.9 million of legal expenses which are considered material by virtue of their nature and based on
management’s assessment of the subject matter the Group considers such items are not in the ordinary course of business.
The costs represent externat legal costs and internal staff time incurred in refation to providing support and input inte a
multi-party regulatory matter, and other activities linked to this matter, which is one-off in nature.

5. Business Combinations

The primary strategic reasons for the following acquisitions and key benefits to the Group are set out on pages 49 to 51.

Efoment Matenals Technology Group Linutod

Qn 6 July 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the vating share capital of Efement Materials Technology Group Limited in the
United Kingdoem. Element Materials Technology Group Limited is a global pravider of testing, inspection, and certification
services.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the Element Materials Technology Group Limited as at the date of
acquisition were:

Fair value recognized

in US Smillion S .
on acquisition

Assets
Intangible assets 1,029.3
Property, plant and equipment 390.1
Right of Use Assets 145.5
Investments in associates and IVs 1.6
QOther non-current assets 8.7
Trade and other receivables 237.9
Caontract assets 42.0
Inventories 2.6
Cash and cash equivalents 68.0
tiahilities
Interest bearing loans and barrowings (refinancing} (1,747.2)
interest bearing loans and borrowings (external loan) (975.0)
Lease liabilities (136.1)
Provisions {48.5)
Trade and cther payables (304.1)
Deferred tax (149.6)
Total net assets/liabilities at fair value {1,434.8}
Non-controlfing interest at proportionate share (12.4)
Goodwill 4,719.0
Purchase consideration 3,271.8
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Goodwill of US $4,718.3 million represents intangible assets which do not qualify for recognition, including testing
capabilities and industry certifications / accreditations, assembled workforce, significant market share, and acquisition
premium reflecting Group’s capability to grow the business through acquisitions. In addition, goodwill includes contingent
consideration related to completion of NTS acquisition. Goodwill also arises on the recognition of deferred tax liabilities in
respect of intangible assets for which amortization does not qualify for tax deductions.

The consolidated opening balance sheet included USS$ 96.6 million of deferred tax asset recognised in the US on certain
acquired intangibles, including goodwill. These intangibles have been calculated under US tax legislation on historic
acquisitions of businesses made in the US. Management concluded that these US legacy intangibles are unrelated to the
goodwill recognised on the acquisition of the Element Materials Technology Group Limited by the Group. As a result, the
deferred tax asset of US$ 96.6 million remained recognized on the opening balance sheet of Element Materials Technology
Group Limited.

Acquisition expenses of US $49.0 million were incurred in respect of this acquisition and expensed to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss (other operating expenses).

From the date of acquisition {o 31 December 2022, Element Materials Technology Group Limited contributed US $514.5
million to revenue and US $105.4 million to loss for the period.

Purchase consideration {in US Smillion):

Cash consideration 2,920.0
Lean notes 52.5
Issuance of shares 48.2
Contingent consideration o 251.1
Total S - 3,271.8

Contingent consideration

As a part of the purchase agreement with the previous owner, a consideration of US $237.1 million contingent on completion
of National Technical Systems acquisition has been agreed. As at the acquisition date, the fair value of the contingent
consideration was estimated to be US $237.1 millicn, The acquisition of National Technical Systems was completed in
September 2023, and the contingent consideration has been paid fully before 31 December 2022.

In addition, additional cansideration between nil and U$ $50.0 million has been agreed in relation to the outcome aof legal
liabitities and other operating costs in refation to advisory service in Built Environment BU, As at the acquisition date, the fair
value of the contingent consideration was estimated at US $13.8 million. The fair value is determined using DCF of possible
scenarios.

Cash flow an acquisition in US Smillion:

Transaction costs included in operating activities 49.0
Cash consideration paid, net of cash acquired 2,852.0
Refinancing — repayment of acquired loan 1,747.2

The external horrowing facilities of Element Materials Technology Group were refinanced as a part of the business
combination. The new external borrowing facilities were recognized as a part of the liabilities assumed on acquisition above
(for further details refer to note 20) to the extent that the refinancing was completed within the acguired entities. Debt
drawn down by the acguirer for the purposes of refinancing is presented within Cash flows from financing activities in the
Consolidation Statement of Cash Flows.
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Trialon Corporation

On 8 July 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the voting share capital of Trialon Corporation in the United States, a leading
provider of product qualification testing for the automotive supply chain. The acquisition of Trialen will further solidify
Group’s leadership in the North American mobility market in size and breadth of its offering.

Trtal ransideration was US $53.€ million, consisling vl US $54.3 million cash consideration, US 50.3 million of deferred
consideration, and a net working capital adjustment of US$ 1.0 million. Acguisition expenses of US $2.8 million were
incurred in respect of this acquisition and expensed to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition were:

Fair value recognized on

In US Smillion s
acquisition
tntangible assets 19.4
Property, plant and equipment 12.7
Trade and other receivables 7.4
Cash and cash equivalents 18
Trade and other payables {3.3)
Deferred tax {5.1)
Net assets acquired 26.9
Goodwill 26,7
Purchase consideration 53.6
Cash consideration 533
Deferred consideration 03

From the date of acquisition to 31 December 2022, Trialon contributed US $14.7 million to revenue and US $1.1 million to
profit before tax. If the acquisition had been made at the beginning of the financial year, the business would have contributed
US $15.3 million to revenue and profit before tax US $0.2 million of Profit before tax, these metrics should not be viewed as
indicative of the results of this business that would have accurred if this acquisition had been completed at the beginning of
the year.

Goodwill, being the excess of the consideration over the net property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets
acquired, represents benefits which do not qualify for recognition as intangible assets, including the ability of a business to
generate higher returns than individual assets, skilled workforces and acquisition synergies that are specific to the Group. In
addition, goodwill arises on the recognition of deferred tax liabilities in respect of intangible assets for which amortization
does not qualify for tax deducticns. There is no tax-deductible goodwill on this acquisition.

Cash flow on acquisition in LI5S Smillion:
Transactien costs included in operating activities 2.8
Cash consideration paid, net of cash acquired o 51.5

Fosta Pre. Linuted

On 14 July 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the voting share capital of Fosta Pte. Limited, a {eading geotechnical
instrumentation and soil investigation specialist based in Singapore. The acquisition allows Group to offer end-to-end project
services from site investigation to asset management and increase the scope of design phase services into non-discretionary
services,

Total consideration for the transaction was US $49.3 million {$G $68.3million). Acguisition expenses of US $0.8 million were
incurred in respect of this acquisition and expensed to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition were:
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. - Fair value recognized on
in US Smillion &

acquisition

Intangible assets 5.7
Property, plant and equipment 1.2
Trade and other receivables 10.2
Cash and cash equivalents 73
Trade and ulher pdyables (3.3}
Deferred tax {1.7}
Net assets acquired 14.4
Goodwill 348
Purchase consideration 49.3
Cash consideration 46.0
Deferred consideration 33

From the date of acquisition to 31 December 2022, Fosta contributed US $8.2 miltion to revenue and US $1.1 million to profit
before tax. If the acquisition had been made at the heginning of the period, the business would have contributed US $10.3
million to revenue, US $5.0 million to profit before tax. Profit before tax should not be viewed as indicative of the results of
this business that would have occurred if this acquisition had been completed at the beginning of the period.

Goodwill, being the excess of the consideration over the net tangible and intangible assets acquired, represents benefits
which do not qualify for recognition as intangible assets, including the ability of a business to generate higher returns than
individual assets, skilled workforces and acquisition synergies that are specific to the Group. in addition, goodwill arises on
the recognition of deferred tax liabilities in respect of intangible assets for which amaortization dees not qualify for tax

deductions. There is no tax-deductible goodwill on this acquisition.

Cash flow on acquisition in US Smillion:
Transaction ¢osts included in operating activities .8
Cash consideration paid, net of cash acquired 43.7

Singapore Test Services Privatoe Limited [YSTS7)

On 29 July 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the voting share capital of $TS, leading testing, inspection, calibration and
certification provider in Singapore, for a total consideration of US $17.2 millicn (SGD $23.8 millicn). The acquisition enables

Group to wider its capabilities and enable further growth in the region.

Acquisition expenses of US $0.9 million were incurred in respect of this acquisition and expensed to the consolidated

statement of profit or toss.
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition were:

- Fair value recognized on
in US Smillion 5

acquisition

Intangible assets 14
Property, plant and equipment 0.8
Trade and other receivables 2.0
Cash and cash equivalents 3.8
Trade and other payables (2.6)
Deferred tax {0.3)
Net assets acquired 5.1
Goodwill 12.1
Purchase consideration 17.2
Cash consideration 16.5
Deferred consideration 0.7
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From the date of acquisition to 31 December 2022, STS contributed US $6 million to revenue and US $(0.4) million to loss
before tax. If the acquisition had been made at the beginning of the periad, the business would have contributed US $8.1
million to revenue, US §1.2 million to profit before tax. Profit before tax should not be viewed as indicative of the results of
this business that would have occurred if this acquisition had been completed at the beginning of the periad.

Goodwill, being the excess of the consideration over the net tangible and intangible assets acquired, represents benefits
which do not qualify for recognilion as intangible assets, mcluding the ability of a business to generate higher returns than
individual assets, skilled workforces and acquisition synergies that are specific to the Group. In addition, goodwill arises on
the recogniticn of deferred tax liabilities in respect of intangible assets for which amortization does not qualify for tax
deductions. There is ho tax-deductible goodwill on this acquisition.

Cash flow on acquisition in US $million:
Transaction costs included in operating activities 0.9
Cash consideration paid, net of cash acquired 12.7

Nationai Technical Systems, Inc, {"NTS”)

GOn 26 September 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the voting share capital of NTS in the United States far a total
consideration of US $677.1 million. NTS is a provider of qualification testing, inspection, and certification services in North
America, and will strengthen Element’s growing platform in North America and enhance its capabilities in telecoms,
connected automaotive, medical device and battery testing.

Acquisition expenses of US $9.5 million were incurred in respect of this acquisition and expensed to the consclidated
statement of profit or loss.

The net assets recognized in the 31 December 2022 financial statements were based on a provisional assessment of their
fair value. The provisional fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition were:

Fair value recognised

Ys Smillion an acquisition
intangible assets 264.7
Property, plant and equipment 214.3
Right of use asset 322
Investments in associates and JVs 4.4
Inventory 2.6
Trade and other receivabies 55.7
Cash and cash equivalents 13.6
Lease liability (32.2}
Trade and other payables (54.5)
Provisions {15.3}
Deferred tax (63.2)
Net assets acquired 422.3
Goodwill 248.9
Total consideration 671.2

Receivable from escrow accounts 59

Total cash consideration paid 677.1

The cash consideration includes a payment of 520 miilion to escrow and heldback accounts out of which $5.9 million was
paid back to the Group in May 2023. The amount is therefore deducted from the total consideration and recognized as a
receivable at December 2022,

From the date of acquisition to 31 December 2022, NTS contributed US $67.9 million to revenue and {US $5.9) million to loss
for the period. If the acquisition had been made at the beginning of the pericd, the business would have contributed US
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5181.7 million to revenue and {US $28.5) million to profit before tax. Profit before tax should not be viewed as indicative of
the resuits of this business that would have occurred if this acquisition had been comgleted at the beginning of the period.

Goodwili, being the excess of the consideration over the net tangible and intangible assets acquired, represents benefits
which do not gualify for recognition as intangihle assets, including the ability of a business to generate higher returns than
individual assets, skilled workfarces and acquisition synergies that are specific to the Group. In addition, goodwill arises on
the recognition of deferred tax liabilities in respect of intangible assets for which amortization does not qualify for tax
deductions. There is no tax-deductible goodwill on this acquisition.

Cash flow on acquisition in US $million:
Transaction costs included in operating activities 9.5
Cash consideration paid, net of cash acquired 663.5

& Reovenue analysis

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue for the period ended 31 December 2022 from continuing operations:

us Smillion
Revenue from services rendered 607.1
Geographic analysis
United States and Canada 366.5
United Kingdom g88.4
Europe 85.8
Rest of the world 66.4
Total 607.1
Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group’s revenue by region:

US Smillion
Americas 3873
EMEAA 219.8
Total 607.1

7. Staffcosts

Period ended 31 December 2022
Group employee expenses us $million
Wages and salary expenses 254.6
Social security expenses 23.0
Pension cost — defined contribution plans 9.1
Pension cost — defined benefit plans 31
Share-based payments [nate 26) 1.9
Total 291.7
Qut of which separately disclosed items (note 4) 14.7
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Group employee numbers

United States and Canada 4,398
United Kingdom 1,326
Europe 1,755
Rast of the world 1,396
Total 2,875
Average 7,828
Directors’ remuneration US Smiliion
Fees paid to non-Executive Directors 0.1
Aggregate emoluments paid to Executive Directors 0.6
0.7

Highest paid Director remuneration

Aggregate emoiuments (0.3

There are no retirement benefits accruing to Directors under pension schemes as at 31 December 2022. The employment
benefits other than salary of directors and other members of key management were:

_US $million
Short term employment henefits L 0.1

A total of three directors were remunerated by the Group during the peried, the remaining Directors did not receive
remuneration for their services during the periad.

- T - Sy . LT
I ERRVROTNIT IS A B LR

Durmg the period ended 31 December 2022 the Group obtained the following services from the Group’s auditor and its
associates:

US Smillion
Audit fees 7.3
Fees paid for audit services provided to Group 7.3
Tax comphance fees 0.4
Tax advisory fees 0.1
Transaction advisory and due diligence fees 2.7
Fees paid for non-audit services provided to Group
Total 10.5

G fsranemonme

Period ended 31 December 2022

US Smillion
Interest income 0.4
Gain on derivative instruments at fair value through profit or loss 459
Total 50.3
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10, Fimangs Coots

Period ended 31 December 2022

Us Smillion
Bank loan interest 80.4
Intercompany interest accrued 344
Financing fees 314
Foreign exchange loss 7.3
Interest expense on lease liabilities 5.8
Total 159.3

In the period the Group recognized US $76.2 million cash outflow in relation to interest payment.

Financing fees of $31.4m relate to costs incurred in refation to the canceliation of a of an unutilized facility for acquisition of
NTS (nnte 5} and sithsequant rafinanging,

Income tax recognized in the statement of profit or loss us $million

Current tax

Current tax charge for the period 7.8
Withho!ding tax written off 0.4
8.2

Deferred tax
Deferred tax credit recognized in the period {15.9)
(11.7)
Total tax charge recognized in the period {11.7}

The income tax {credit)/charge for the period can be reconciled to the accounting loss as follows:

Loss before tax from continuing operations {719.9)
Income tax credit calculated at 19.0% (136.7}
Effects of expenses that are not deductible in interest expense 7.3
Effects of expenses that are not deductible for tax purposes 114.3
Effects of unused tax losses and tax offsets not recognized as deferred tax assets 6.4
Effects of diffarent tax rates on subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions (1.7}
Overseas withhoiding tax 0.4
Effect of group relief (1.6)
Effect of nan-taxable income (0.5)
Other 0.4

(11.7)

Income tax recognized directly in equity
Current tax
Local tax charge/(credit) on unrealized foreign exchange movements -

Deferred tax

Provisions (0.2)
Defined benefit pensions obligation ) L 0.8
0.6
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2022
Current tax assets US Smiilion
income tax receivable 6.4
Current tax liahilities
Income tax payable (7.4)
Non-Current tax liabilities
Corporation tax payable (2.4)
The following is the analysis of deferred tax habilities presented in the consolidated statement of financial position:

At 31

At 18 Current year Recognizedin Foreign December

Us $million lanuary 2022 Acquisitions (charge] / credit ocCt exchange 2022
Net operating lass 363 5.6 - (0.1) 41.8
Accruad expenses 4.6 {0.6] (0.1} 3.9
Prepaid expenses (2.0) (1.3} - (3.3)
Property, plant and equipment {88.2) 3.3 - (0.7 (85.6)
Intangible assets (210.3) 21 - 1.4 (206.9}
Research and development (1.5) 0.3 - (1.2)
Provisions / accruals 3.8 {0 9] ©2) 03 30
Retirement benefit cbligations 0.3 {0.5) 0.8 - 06
Restricted interest 354 19.6 - - 55.0
Other 1.7 (7.8) - 0.2 (5.7)
Total (219.9) 20.0 0.6 1.0 (198.3)

Deferred taxes

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that the realization of the related deferred tax benefitthrough future taxable

profits is probable.

At the statement of financial position date, the Group did not recognize a deferred tax asset of US $28.2 million relating to
tax losses, due to uncertainty over the availability of future taxable profits. The material components of the unrecognized
deferred tax asset comarise US $16.0 million relating to UK tax losses, US $6.7 million relating to Swedish tax fosses and US
$1.0 million relating to German tax fosses.

The Group also has an unrecognized deferred tax asset of US $3.9 million relating to accrued interest in the US arising as a
result of the s. 163 interest limitation provisions. There is uncertainty as to when the interest amaounts will be available to

deduct against taxable profits.

Nao deferred tax liability has been recognized in respect of unremitted earnings of subsidiaries. It is tikely that the majority
of the overseas earnings will qualify for the UK dividend exemption and the Group can control the distribution of dividends
by its subsidiaries, In some jurisdictions local tax is payable on the remittance of a dividend. If dividends were remitted
from subsidiaries in these countries the additional tax payable would be US $6.9 million with the gross timing difference

heing US $137.8 million.

A UK budget resolution was announced on 3rd March 2021 and substantively enacted on 24th May 2021, increasing the UK
corporation tax rate from 19% to 25%, effective from 1st April 2023. UK deferred tax balances within the accounts have been
calculated using a corporation tax rate of 25%.
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12, Goodwill
Us Smillion
As at 18 January 2022 -
Acquisitions of subsidiaries (note 5) 5,041.6
Cxchidigue muvements (27.9)
Impairment (544 9)
As at 31 December 2022 4,468.8

for the purposes of impairment assessment, goodwill is allocated to group of CGUs as follows:

. usgmilion
(i) Aerospace and Defense US 864.0
(i} Connected Technologies US 6749
(iii) Life Sciences US 937.7
{iv) Aerospace & Connected Technologies EMEAA, 540.8
{v] Calibration 102.6
{vi} Built Environment EMEAA 503.0
{vii} Life Sciences, EMEAA 228 8
{viii) Digital Engineering EMEAA 31.0
{ix} National Technical Systems (“NTS") 486.0
Total - T N 4688

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that it might be impaired. The
Group performed an impairment assessment of goodwill and other intangible asset balances for each group of CGUs
{Business Unit) in accordance with the requirements of 1AS 36 “Impairment of Assets” by comparing the carrying values
against the higher of fair value and "value-in use” in perpetuity.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that refiects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair
value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an
appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for
publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators.

Element bases its impairment calculation on most recent budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared separately
for each of Element’s group of CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations
generally cover a period of five years. A long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after
the fifth year.

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each group of CGUs to which the goodwill
relates. When the recoverahle amount of the group of CGUs is less than its carrying amount, animpairment loss is recognised.
Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

Key assumptions used in determining the recoverable value:

* Element’s Directors determined the nine business units (operating under two regional management structures) as the
appropriate level at which the impairment assessment should be performed.

Value in Use {"VIU"}
» Element’s Directors have prepared a calculation of the present value of expected future cash flows based on the Element’s

Board approved 2023 budget and 2 5-year forecast plan for 2023 —~ 2027, including, where appropriate cash flows
discounted to perpetuity.
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The key assumptions wilthin the present value of future cash flows are margin and long-term growth rate in the terminal
year. Operating profit margin forecasts for each group of CGUs are derived from past results adjusted by Element’s
Directors based on salient current and future considerations. The long-term growth rate of 2.75% has been applied across
all business units. Growth rates generally approximate to the long-term average rates for the markets in which Element
operates, adjusted for future expectations taking account of the current economic climate.

Cash conversion rates for cach granp of CGUs are bosed on histodical cash conversion rates. The margins are assumed to
increase across all business units. The range used for margins increases from 11.3% - 28.8% to 17.1% - 35 6% over the

forecast period.

Pre-tax discount rates reflect current market assessments of the time vaiue of money and the risks specific to Element as
a whole. The pre-tax discount rates used are based on Element’s weighted average cost of capital, adjusted to reflect a
risk premium specific t¢ each group of CGUs. Element’s weighted average cost of capital 1s derived from a risk-free rate,
a market risk premium, a risk adjustment [beta) and a cost of debt adjustment.

Pre-tax
CGU at VIU discount rate
(i} Aerospace and Defense US 5.92%
{11} Connected Technologies US 8.72%
{v) Calibration 9.52%
{vi) Built Envircnment EMEAA 10.50%
{ix} National Technical Systems {"NTS") 9.69%

Fair value less cost of sell {(“FVLCTS")

A methodolegy utilizing Revenue and EBITDA multiples (based on the average between guideline company and
transaction methods) was used to calculate each group of CGU’s fair value less cost of sell. The concluded fair value
assumes a level of bolt-on M&A activities representing fess than 10% of annual EBITDA.

The key assumptions within the fair value calculation are the vafuation multiples.

Revenue multiple EBITDA multiple
Guideline Transaction | Guideline  Transaction
company method* company method*
{ii}) Life Sciences US 4.4x 40-4.7x 12 7x 11.9-16.1x
{iv) Aerospace & Connected Technologies EMEAA 3.0x 2.7-35x 11.7x 10.9 -15.3x
{vii) Life Sciences, EMEAA 3.0x 2.7 -3.5x 13.8x 12.0-16.1x
{wiii} Digital Engineering EMEAA 2 5x 2.4-2.8x 11.7x 10.9 - 15.5x

*The guidehine transaction method is using a weighted average of revenue and EBITDA multiples over 3 years.

The M&A value is based on the present value of expected future cash flows for a 5-year forecast plan. The key assumption
is the pre-tax discount rate of 9.25%, EBITDA annual growth of 8%, and expected terminal value based on a valuation
multiple of 18x.

The fair value maeasurement was categorised as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs in the valuation technique used

Impairment charges

Element recorded an impairment charge of U$5544.9 million due to weaker performance against projections resulting
from rising interest rates and inflation, and general economic uncertainty.

This impairment charge had been recorded under impairment of goodwill in the consolidated statement of grofit or loss.
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The recoverable amount per CGU and impairment (oss on goodwill of the groups of CGUs were as follows:

Basis for

In US Smiillions Recoverahble Recoverable Impalr.ment of
amount of CGU goodwill

- amount T -
{i} Aerospace and Defense US viJ 1,343.1 39.8
{it} Connected Technoiogies US Vil 977.5 124.9
{iii} Life Sciences US FYLCTS 1.252.0 112 8
{iv) Aerospace & Cannected Technologies EMEAA FVYLCTS 6894 161.8
{v) Calibration ViU 185.4 12.4
{vi} Built Environment EMEAA VIU 737.7

{vii) Life Sciences, EMEAA FVLCTS 387.8 69.1
{viii} Digital Engineering EMEAA FVLCTS 41.0 17.1
(ix) National Technical Systems ["NTS") ViU 1,0695

Total 6,683.4 0449

The estimated recoverable amount of Built Environment EMEAA CGU exceeded its carrying amount by approximately
Us542 million.

The estimated recoverable amaount of NTS CGU exceeded its carrying amount by aporoximately UsS 153 million,

Management has identified that a reasonably possible change in two key assumptions could cause the carrying amount to

exceed the recoverable amount. The following table shows the amount by which these twe assumptions would need to
change individually for the estimated recoverable amount to be equal to the carrying amount.

Change required for carrying amount to equal the
recoverable amount

Geu B 7 o Discount rate (in %) Terminal growth (in %)
Built Envirenment EMEAA G4 {0.5)
_National Technical Systems (“NTS") ) cs {1.29)

The following tables illustrate impact of reasanably possibie changes in key assumptions on the impairment charge per
CGU.

In US Smillions Changes in key assumptions - Value in Use
Group of CGUs Long term growth Discount rate
2.5% 3.0% -0.5% 0.5%
(i) Aerospace and Defense US 458 (383} | (383) 1136
{i) Connected Technologies US 42.6 47.7) {100 0) 014
{v} Calibration & Testing Mordics, 7.7 (7.0} (12.2) 15.6
{vi} Bullt Environment EMEAA Q.0 0.0 Q.0 13.7
{ix} National Technical Systems (“NTS") Q.0 0.0 G0 0.0
Increase [ [decrease) in impairment 96.2 {93.0) (150.5) 244.3
In US $miliions Changes in key assumptions — Fair Value
Group of CGUs Revenue multiple | EBITDA multiple ] Discount rate Annual growth l Terminal value
-10.0% 10.0% : -10.0% 10.0% -0.5% 0.5% . -2.0% 20% | -10.0% 10.0%
{ni) Lefe Sciences US 292 (29.0) ; 68.6 (68.5) | {10.7) 10.3 22.1 {23.0) 51.9 {51.9)
!F;)C::;T;;ZZEE%E;;?EUEC! 116 (11.4) % 333 (343 (89) 86 184 (19.1) | 432 (43.2)
{wiiy Life Sciances, EMEAA 7.5 (7.3} § 16.1 (15.1) é (6.2} 6.0 129 (13.4) 30.3 {30.3)
tviir) Digital Enginccr'\n‘g EMEAA 0.4 (0.5} % 15 (1.3} (0.9} 0.9 ; 18 (1.9} ‘ 4.3 (43)
::‘n(;z:'ﬁe/n(fecreaSE) " 48.8 {48.2) % 1205 {120.3) ) (26.7) 25.8 55.2 (57.4} 129.7 (129.7)
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13, Other intangble assets

Total

Cost Cf:storr]er Trade Technology Software
relationships names

As at 18 January 2022 - - - - -
Acquisitions (note 5) 1,096.0 180.6 14.8 19.1 1,3205
Additions - - - 6.4 6.4
Transfers - - 038 (0.8} -
Disposals - - - {1.3} - (1.3}
Exchange movements {4.3} (1.2) {0.1) {0.9) (6.5)
As at 31 December 2022 1,091.7 189.4 155 225 1,319.1
Accumulated Amortization and Impairment
As at 18 January 2022 . - - z .
Charge for the year 273 9.8 2.4 7.7 47.2
Disposals - - - {1.1) (1.1}
Exchange movements {0.1) (0.1) (0.0} {e.5) (0.8}
As at 31 December 2022 27.2 9.7 2.4 6.1 454
Net book value
As at 31 December 2022 1,064.5 179.7 13.1 16.4 1,273.6

Amortization policy for each asset class is disclosed in note 2.7 and the impairment of assets policy is disclosed in note 2.8.

ant and eguipment

14, Properiy, o

Land & Leasehold Plant & Assets under Total
Cost Buildings Improvements Equipment Construction US Smillion
As at 18 January 2022 - z " - '
Acquisitions (note 5) 144.9 62.8 378.4 32.9 619.0
Additions 2.3 22 14.7 39.0 58.2
Transfers 2.4 1.3 15.6 (20.1) (0.8)
Disposals {1.3) {0.7) (8.8) (3.2) {14.0)
Exchange movements {0.3) {0.2) {2.3) (G.1) (2.9)
As at 31 December 2022 148.0 65.4 397.6 48.5 659.5
Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment
As at 18 January 2022 - - - - -
Charge for the Period 2.0 4.4 39.4 45.9
Disposals (0.2) {0.4) {8.2) (8.7)
Exchange movements {1.2) (1.2)
As at 31 December 2022 1.8 4.0 30.1 35.9
Net book value
As at 31 December 2022 146.2 61.4 367.5 48.5 623.6

The depreciation policy for each asset class is disciosed in note 2.12 and the impairment of assets policy is disclosed in note

2.8

112



EM Midco2 Limited
NOTESTO THE CONSOUIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ciates and o nL wenTarss

Y
1A
r
1
<
f
3
:
e
NS
o
(&l

UsS $Smitlion
As at 18 January 2022 -
Acquisitions [Note 5) 6.0
Additions lu
Share of profit of associate and joint ventures 0.8
Share buy-back scheme 0.5
Dividends received {2.3)
As at 31 December 2022 5.9

As a part of Flement Material Technology Group and NTS business combinations {note 5} the Group acquired investment
Plastometrex Limited {US $1.8 rulliun) and joint venture interest in Shanghai NOA Certification Co. Ltd (US 4.4 million),
respactively. Both mvestments are accounted for as an interest in associate using the equity method.

During the period the Group acguired a further 0.8% shareholding in Plastrometrex Limited. The carrying value of the
investment at 31 December 2022 is US $2.5 million.

Total Group’s share on other comprehensive income of the assaciates and joint ventures is nil.

PRI B
US Smillion
Trade receivables 239.6
Prepayments 541
Other recevables 24.7
As at 31 December 2022 318.4

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to tifetime ECL. The expected credit losses
on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default experience of the debtor and an
analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date.

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivabie, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade
receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The Directors consider that the carrying amaount
of trade and other receivables is approximately equal to their fair value.

The aging of trade receivables not impaired: Us Smillion

Mot past due 147.2
Past due 0-30 days 41.0
Past due 31-60 days 17.7
Past due 61-90 days 10.9
Past due 90 days 27.4
Less: expected credit loss {4.6)
As at 31 December 2022 239.6
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Receivables split by currency: - US Smillion
U.S. Doliar 142.6
Pound Sterling 33.2
Euro 20.2
Canadian Dollars 9.3
Swedish Krgna 7.2
Other currencies 271
Total as at 31 December 2022 239.6
Movements in the expected credit losses US Smillion
As at 18 lanuary 2022 -
Acquisitions 19
Reversal of oxpected credit losses during the period (1.4)
Increase in expected credit loss during the period 3.0
Receivables written off dyring the period as uncollectahie (0.8)
Exchange adjustments (0.1}
As at 31 December 2022 4.6
R R e B b E SV I TR T ot o

Us Smillion
U.s5. Dollar 33.6
Eurc 12.6
Pound Sterling 62.4
Singaporean Dollars 7.5
Other currencies 18.2
Total as at 31 December 2022 134.3

The balance as at 31 December 2022 consists of cash at banks and on hand. The Group does not have restricted cash.

ia Otner paares
Current Us Smillion
Accrued bonuses, wages and personnel costs 51.2
Other accrued liabilities 71.6
Cantract liabilities 40.1
Customer deposits 12.0
Total as at 31 Decernber 2022 174.9

The fair value of the Groyp's trade and other payables approximates their carrying ameunt.

Within other accrued liabilities there is US $5.5 million relating to employment liabilities accrued in accordance with
regulatory requirements in fareign jurisdictions, $9.4m relating to accruals of separately disclosed items, $11.0m relating to

Goods received but not invoiced and 55.4m relating to Capex accruals.

Non-Current Us Smillion
Other liabilities 17.0
Amounts payable to parent company 862.0
Total 879.0
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T
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Dilapidation Legal Environmental Restructuring Total
provisions provicions pravisinns Provisions US Smillion
As at 18 January 2022 - - - - -
Acquisiticns (note 5) 354 11.2 13.0 4.2 63.8
Additions 6.5 - - 1.2 7.7
Utilized during the period {0.3) {0.1) - (1.6) {2.0)
Exchange movements {0.4) {0.2) - 1.4 0.9
As at 31 December 2022 41.2 10.9 13.0 5.3 704
Included in:
Current liahilities 4.9 2.9 - 4.5 122
Non-current liabilities 363 8.0 13.0 0.8 581
As at 31 December 2022 41.2 10.9 13.0 5.3 70.4

Dilapidation provision

The dilapidation provisions represent management’s best estimate of restoration costs with respect to leased properties for
which a present obligation exists and a reliable estimate can be made. The timing of the cash outflows is expected to be over
the next 1-15 years as leases expire.

Legal provision

The Group is involved in various claims and lawsuits in the ordinary course of its business. The outcome of such litigation and
the timing of any potential liability is uncertain, as it is often subject to legal proceedings. Based on information currently
avallable, the Directars consider that the cost to the Group of an unfavarable outcome arising from such litigation is unlikely
to have a materially adverse effect on the financial position of the Group in the foreseeable future. In making provision for
claims, management has used its judgment to assess the circumstances relating to each spercific event, internal and external
legal advice, knowledge of the industries and markets, prevailing commercial terms and legal precedents.

Environmental provision

The provision represents estimated costs of clean up, land redevelopment and restoration of specific testing sites in US. The
provision has been recognized as a part of NTS acquisition {Note 5).

Restructuring provisions

Restructuring provision relates to various fundamental restructuring activities, including site consalidations, closure of non-
core business units, re-engineering of underperforming businesses and the delayering of management structure.
Management has used its best judgment to estimate the cost and the timing of the cash cutflows and estimated that majority
is likely to be within one year of the statement of financial position date.
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Total

Current Non-Current us Smillions

“First Lien lerm Loan 142 18037 18179

Second Lien Term Lean 3479 347.9
Deferred financing costs (9.9} (68.4} (78.3)
Capex/acquisition and revolving credit facilities 1370 - 137.0
Interest bearing loans and borrowings ) 1413 i 2,083.2 12,2245

The principal terms of the Group’s Loans and borrowings at the year-end were as follows:

First Lien Term Loan

The First Lien Term foans consist of the following facilities:

US $975 million principal amount acquired as a part of Element Matenial Technology Greup Limited {note 5) on 6
July 2022. The loan has an annual repayment of 1% of the ongmal drawn down vaiue, payable from 31 March 2023.
The remaining balance is repayable in fuli on maturity (06 July 2029). The ican carries variahle interest at SOFR plus
4.25% margin. The aistanding principal as at 31 December 2022 is US $975 million.

A further US $450 million was raised on 26 September 2022, The lcan has an annual repayment of 1% of the
original drawn down value, payable from 31 March 2023. The remaining balance is repayable in full on maturity
{06 July 2029}, The loan carries variable interest at SOFR plus 4.25% margin. The outstanding principal as at 31
December 2022 is US 5450 million.

EUR 370.0 miliion {US $386.7 mullion) principal amount was drawn on 06 July 2022 and is repayable in full an
maturity (06 July 2029). The loan carries variable interest at EURIBOR plus 4.25% margin. The outstanding orincipal
as at 31 December 2022 is EUR 370 million {US $352.9 mulicon).

Second Lien Term Loan

The Second Lien Term ioans consist of the following facilities:

-

The principal amount of the facility is GBP 220.8 million {US § 268.2 million) and was drawn on 06 July 2022. The
cutstanding loan is repayable in full on 06 July 2030. The loan carries variable interest at SONIA plus margin of
7.25%.

A further GBP 68.2 million {US $80.0 million) was raised on 26 September 2022 and was an extension to the original
draw down with the interest and repayment terms remaining unchanged.

As at 31 December 2022, the total amount outstanding on the Second Lien Term Loan is GBP 289.0 million {US
$347.9 million}.

Capex/acquisition and revelving credit facilities

A series of drawdowns and payments were made on the capex/acquisition and revolving credit facilities during 2022, which
in part remain unpaid as at 31 December 2022, The interest paid on the capex/acquisition facility is variable and is charged
at Libor plus 3.5% margin. Interest on the revolving credit facility is variable and is charged at SOFR/SONIA/EURIBOR (as
apphcable) plus 3.5%

The following drawdowns and payments occurred during 2022:
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Capex/acquisition:

e USS101.0million was drawn on 7 july 2022, At 31 December 2022,
*  US3516.0 million was drawn on 22 July 2022. At 31 December 2022.

Revolving credit facifity:

*  USSS5.0million was drawn on 23 September 2022. The full balance was repaid on 24 October 2022

e EUR 6.0 million (US $5.8 million} was drawn cn 27 September 2022. The full balance was repaid on
27 October 2022,

¢ GBP 5.0 million {US $5.9million} was drawn on 27 September 2022, The full balance was repaid on
27 October 2022

e {J5515.0 million was drawn on 14 November 2022.

. US $5.0 million was drawn on 23 December 2022.

As at 31 NDeramber 2022, the vutstanding amount of the capex/acquisition facility is US $117.0 milkon and the outstanding
amount of the revolving credit facility is US $20.0 millien. The capex/acquisition and the revolving credit faclity have a
maturity date of 6 January 20285.

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

At 18 Acquisition Drawdowns Repayme Interest Interest Exchange At 31
January {note 5) nts accrued paid movement December 2022
2022
First Lien Term Loan - 975.0 836.6 - 57.9 (57.9) 6.3 1,817.9
Second Lien Term Loan - 346.1 - 13.8 {13.8) 1.8 3479
ACF and RCF - 1539 (16.2) 4.5 {4.5) {6.7) 137.0
Loan refinanced on
acquisition [note 5} 1,747.2 {1,747.2) - - -
Deferred financing costs - - (81.7} 4.2 B (0.8) {(78.3)
Interest bearing loans
and borrowings - 2,722.2 1,336.6 {1,845.1) 80.4 {76.2) 6.6 2,224,5

Analysis of borrowings by currency:

Total
o o - ~ GBP  EUR _ USD USS$million
Second Lien Term Loan (net of deferred financing costs) 336.4 - - 336.4
First Lien Term loan {net of deferred financing costs} - 381.8 1,377.6 1,759.4
Capex/acquisition and revolving credit facilities {net of deferred financing costs} - - 128.7 128.7
336.4 381.8 1,506.3 2,2245

As at 31 December 2022

Analysis of undrawn borrowings under the Senior Facilities Agreement (SFA):

- o ) s Us $million
Capex/ aa_u_i;i{ion T T T T 83.0
Revelving credit facility 157.1

240.1

Total

The availakle undrawn facilities are multi-currency. At 31 December 2022, the Group has a US $22.92 million, letter of credit

outstancing (refer to note 30).

The weighted average interest rates paid during the period were as follows:

Bank loans

%
71
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Total

US Smillion

Contingent consideration as at 18 January 2022 -

Acquisitions 264.2

Payment of deferred and rontingent congidoration (2410}

Fair value re-measurement (41}

Contingent consideration as at 31 December 2022 i8.5

Deferred consideration 4.5

Total deferred and contingent consideration 23.1
Included in: US Smillion
Current liabilities 0
Non-current liabilities 138
As at 31 December 2022 23.1

The fair value of the contingent consideration determined at 31 December 2022 is the present value of expected future cash
flows based on the latest forecasts of future performance. Changes to the original present valua of the expected future cash
flows are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Deferred and contingent consideration as at 31 December 2022 relates to the following past transactions:

Norton Straw Limited (acquired 1 December 2021) purchase consideration included deferred consideration in the form of a
holdback payment, The deferred consideration is for an amount of US $0.4 million (GB £0.3 million). This amount was paid
in March 2023,

Impact Analytical Inc. (acquired 1 September 2021) purchase consideration included contingent consideration based on
future EBITDA targets being met. The contingent consideration range is between a minimum of $nil and a maximum of US
$5.0 million. The fair value of the contingent consideration recognized an 6 July 2022 was US 55.0 million. The fair value of
the contingent consideration was reduced to US $3.5 million as at 31 December 2022 reflecting the final earn out results.
The release of the contingent consideration {(US $1.5 million} has been recognized in the consclidated statement of profit or
loss. The contingent consideration was paid in June 2023,

The considaration to acquire Energy Assurance LLC (purchased 8 April 2022) included contingent consideration based on
future EBITDA targets being met, as well as deferred consideration in the form of a holdback payment. The contingent
consideration range is between a minimum of $nil and a maximum of US $3.7 million. The fair value of the contingent
consideration recognized on 6 July 2022 was US $2.5 million and was adjusted to nil as at 31 December 2022 based on
updated EBITDA performance. The release of the contingent consideration was recognized in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss. The deferred consideration is for an amount of US $2.9 millien as at 31 December 2022 (adjusted during the
period by US $0.1m from US $3.0 million} and was paid in January 2023,

The Group acquired a further 0.8% sharehoiding in Plastrometrex Limited in July 2022 for US $1.0 million {note 16). During
the period US $0.5 million has been paid with US $0.5 million outstanding as at 31 December 2022, The deferred
consideration has been paid in March and July 2023 in equal instalments.

The consideration to acquire Argen Labs LLC (purchased 7 September 2021} included contingent consideration based on
future EBITDA targets being met. The contingent consideration range is between a minimum of $nil and a maximum of US
$1.2 million. The fair value of the contingent consideration as at 31 December 2022 is US $1.2 million and was paid in lanuary
2023.

Clinimark LLC {acquired & April 2022) purchase consideration included deferred consideration in the form of holdback
payments. The deferred consideration is for an amount of US $0.6 millian. This amount was paid in April 2023.
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Deferred and contingent consideration as at 31 December 2022 relates to the following acquisitions in the period (note 5):

Trialon Corporation purchase consideration included deferred consideration in the form of a holdback payment. The
deferred consideration is for US $0.3 million and is payable in the second half of 2023.

The acquisition of Singapore Test Services Private Limited included deferred consideration of a holdback payment. The
deferred consideration recognized on acquisition was US $0.7 million (5GD $1.0 million} and was paid in the period. As at 31
December 2022 $nil amounts are outstanding.

The acquisition of Fosta Pte. Limited included deferred consideration of a holdback payment. The deferred consideration
recognized on acquisition was US $3.3 million (SGD $4.6 million) and was paid in the period. As at 31 December 2022 $nil
amounts are outstanding.

The acquisition of Element Materials Technology Group limited included a consideration contingent an completion of the
acquisition of NTS. The contingent consideration of $237.1m was paid in the period. As at 31 December 2022 $nil amounts
are outstanding.

The acquisition of Element Materials Technology Group Limited also included a contingent consideration dependent on
outcomes of certain legal matters and operating results of advisory service business in Built Environment BU. The fair value
was established on a basis of DCF of possible outcome scenarios. The estimated vaiue of US513.8 million as at the acquisition
date of 6 July 2022 remained the best estimate &s at the year end.
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The Group’s finance function provides services 10 the business, coordinates access to domestic and international financial
markets, and momitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group through internal risk reports
which analyze exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. The Group’s business and financial results are affected by
fluctuations in global financial markets, including changes in currency exchange rates and interest rates. The Group manages
these risks through a combination of normal operating and financing activities and derivative financial instruments. The
Group uses interest rate cap contracts to manage its exposure to interegst rate changes. The Group does not use derivative
financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

Financial risk management including the use of financial instruments and the related currency, liquidity, credit and interest
rate risks is dealt with by the Group finance function of the parent on behalf of the Group.

In accordance with IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclasures, financial instruments are classified in the form of a three-level
fair value hierarchy, by class, for all financial instruments recognized at fair value:

. Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

. Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

+  Level 3:inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

The following tables present the Group’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value:

Fair value Fair value Carrying amount 31
Financial assets / (Financial fiabilities) ~~ _ hierarchy 31 December2022 _ December2022
Contingent censideration in a business Level 3 (18.5) {18.5)
combination L L
Derivatives not designated as hedges
Interest rate swap contract Level 2 54.8 54.8
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At 31 December 2022, the Group classified all financial instruments at level 2 fair value measurement for the purposes of
disclosing their fair value, with the exception of trade receivables and payables, cash and cash equivalents and contingent
consideration. Between 18 January 2022 and 31 December 2022, there were no transfers between level 1 and teve! 2 fair
value measurements and no transfers into or out of level 3 fair value measurements.

At 31 December 2022, there is one type of level 3 fair value measurement which relates to contingent consideratian liabilities
resulting from acquisition activity. The fair value of the contingent consideration Habilities is based on an assessment of the
probability of possible cutcomes discounted to net present value. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration liabilities are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement period adjustments.
All other subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration liabilities are accounted for in accordance with
relevant IFRSs and designated through the statement of profit or loss.

For financial instruments that are recognized at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole} at the end of each reporting year.

The Group management reviews and manages the key risks that could prevent the Group from meeting its business
objectives. The Group management consists of senior managers from operating sectors and reparts findings and actions
directly to the Chief Executive Officer and the Board. This process covers all risk areas, including strategic, operational and
financial risks. The key risks identified by management are as fallows:

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual abligations resulting in financial loss to the
Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral
where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults.

Trade receivable exposures are managed locaily in the operating units where they arise. Credit terms vary by country and
are set as deemed appropriate for the customer. The Group actively manitors concentration of credit risk whereby no
customer represents greater than 10% of total trade receivables throughout the period. The Group’s exposure and the credit
ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of credit risk within the business is spread
amongst a number of approved counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled by counterparty fimits that are reviewed and
approved by management. The carrying amount of the financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which is net of
expected credit losses, represents the Group’s exposure to credit risk.

The Group uses the IFRS 9 ECL model to measure loss allowances at an amount equal to their lifetime expected credit loss.

In arder to minimize credit risk, the Group has categorized exposures according to their degree of risk of default. The credit
rating information 1s based on a range of qualitative and quantitative factors that are deemed to be indicative of risk of
default and range from 1 {lowest risk of default) to 5 (greatest risk of default). Loss allowances for trade receivables from
related parties held by the Group are deemed immaterial.

Net
Group Gross exposure Loss allowance Exposure
rating US Smillion US Smiillion Us Smillion
1 147.2 147.2
2 41.0 41.0
3 17.7 17.7
4 10.9 1.9
5 27.4 46} 22.8
Total 244.2 {4.6} 239.6

L by rsk

Liquidity risk is the risk that suitable sources of funding may not be available for the Group’s business activities. The Group
manages liquidity risk by maintaining adegquate reserves and banking facilities and continucusly menitoring forecast and
actual cash flows including consideration of appropriate sensitivities.
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The Group menitors cash balances daily and projects cash on a rolling thirteen-week basis. The Group’s financial risk
management activities in this area seek to achieve a balance between certainty of funding with committed facilities and a
flexible cost-effactive structure.

At 31 December 2022, the Group had credit facilities of US $400.0 million, of which US $137.0 million had been drawn down
leaving US $263.0 million undrawn. The Group held cash of US 5134.3 million at the end of the period.

In addition to cash and undrawn facilities available, liquidity risk is managed through on-going review of the Group’s financial
projections by the Group finance function. Recommendations may then be made to the Board to mitigate cash outflows
through restriction or deferral of discretionary expenditure.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities which will be settled on a net basis into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining years, at the statement of financial position date, to the contractual matunty date. The amounts
disciosed in the table represant the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying
value as the impact of discounting is not considered to be significant.

Between Between Between

Less than one and two two and three and More than Total

one year years  three years five years five years  US Smillion
Senior Facilities Agreement: 14.3 143 143 28.5 1,353.8 1,425.2
secured

I i

Capgx/acgylsmon and revolving 137.0 i i . i 137.0
credit facility
Second Lien Term Loan 3479 3479
Trade payables 51.3 - - - - 51.3
Other payables 168.4 6.9 05 2.8 6.9 185.4
Lease liabilities o 41.6 354 307 442 66.7 2186
As at 31 December 2022 4126 56.6 45.5 75.5 1,775.3 2,365.4

Mot rok

The business activities of the Group expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates
and interest rates. There has been no change to the Group's exposure to market risks or the manner in which these risks
are managed and measured.

PR oyt e o
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The Group is exposed to interest rate risks on its secured bank loans (note 20). Management closely monitors the market
changes in interest rates and any potential impact the changes have on its ability to service its debt facility.

In addition to the available cash and cash from operations, the Group uses short and long-term debt to finance business
activities. Interest rates on bank borrowings range between 2.2% and 4.3%. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its
debt ohligations.

Interest rate sensitivity

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of loans
and borrowings affected. With all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit befare tax is affected through the
impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows:
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Increase/decrease in basis Effect on profit before

paints tax (US Smillion)
uUs Dollar +50 7.8
Pound +50 1.7
Euro +50 2.0
Us Dollar -850 (7 8)
Pound -50 (1.7)
Euro -50 (2.0)

The assumed movement in basis points for the interest rate sensitivity analysis is based an the currently observabie market
environment.

Foroizngorraoyrsy

The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies; consequently, exposures to exchange rate
fluctuations arise. These risks include the translation of local currency balances and results of the Group's worldwide
operations into United States Dollars. In addition, there are gains and losses related to intercompany and third-party
transactions denominated in currencies other than a location’s functional currency. The Group operates in over 30 countries,
although the principal currency exposures relate to Sterling and Euro. The Group’s objective is to minimize the volatility of
its exposures to thase risks through a combination of normal operating and financing activities Currency risk is managed
centrally by the Groug.

Foreign currency sensitivity

The fellowing tables demanstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in Eure and GBP exchange rates, with all
other variables held constant. The impact on the Group’s post-tax equity is due to changes in the fair value of loans and
borrowings denominated in GBP and Euros. The Group’s exposure to foreign currency changes for all other currencies is
not material.

Change in GBP rate Effect on profit before tax
US $million

+5% {16.5)
-5% 8.3

Change in Euro rate Effect on profit before tax
us Smillian

+5% {18.7)
-5% 207

The movement in post-tax equity arises from changes in GBP and furo denominated borrowings {net of cash and cash
equivalents). These movements will offset the foreign exchange translation difference of foreign operations.

Cavital managaemem

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximizing the return to shareholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balances. The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged.

The capital structure of the Greup consists of net debt {borrowings disciosed in note 20 after deducting cash and cash
equivalents) and equity of the Group {as disclosed in the statement of changes in equity).

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. The Group’s risk to the capital structure is reviewed
on a regular basis As part of this review, the Group consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of

capital.
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The Group operates a number of pension schemes throughout the world. In mast locations, these are defined contribution
arrangements. However, there are defined henefit pension plans in the UK, Sweden and Germany, which require
contributions to be made to separately administered funds or insurance companies.
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A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution pension plans are recognized as an employee benefit expense in the statement of profit or loss when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions. The Group made US $9.1 million {note 7} payment to defined
contribution plans in 2022,

G2fines barofit neng on sghias
A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan.

The Group's net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating
the amount of future benefits that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior years; that
benefit is discounted to determine its present value.

The largest of the defined benefit pension schemes is the UK scherme, TTL Chiltern Group Pension Scheme. The assets of this
scheme are administered by trustees in a fund independent from those of the participating companies and invested directly
on the advice cof the independent professional investment managers.

The Scheme provides pensiens in retirement and death benefits to members. Pension benefits are linked to a member’s final
salary at retirement and their length of service. Since 1 October 2015 the Scheme has been closed to future accrual. The
Scheme is a registered scheme under UK legislation and was contracted cut of the State Second Pension. The Scheme is
subject to the scheme funding requirements outlined in UK legislation. The Scheme was established from 2 March 1978
under trust and is governed by the Scheme’s rules dated 22 July 2011 and subsequent amending deeds {the “Rules”). The
Trustees are responsible for the operation and the governance of the Scheme, including making decisions regarding the
Scheme’s funding and investment strategy. Under clause 66, of the Rules the Company is entitled to an unconditional right
to a refund of surplus if the Scheme winds up with excess assets.

The Scheme exposes the Company to actuarial risks such as: market (investment) risk, interest rate risk, inflation risk currency
risk and langevity risk. The Scheme does not expose the Company to any unusual Scheme-specific or Company-specific risks.

The Scheme’s investment strategy is to invest broadly 55% in return seeking assets (with 27.5% allocated to diversified
growth funds and 27.5% allocated to equities) and 45% in matching assets (with 20.5% allocated to fixed index-linked gilts
or other inflation linked assets and 24.5% allocated to corperate bonds). This strategy reftects the Scheme’s liability profile
and the Trustees” and Company’s attitude to risk.

The Scheme is subject to a full actugarial valuation every three years using assumptions agreed between the Trustee and the
Group management. The purposa of this valuation is to design a funding plan tc ensure that the pension scheme has
sufficient funds available to meet future benefit payments. The most recent valuation was carried out by an independent
professionally qualified actuary as at 31 December 2022 and revealed a funding deficit of GBP £1.4 million (US $1.7 million).
The Group agreed to pay monthly contributions of GBP £0.1 million (US 501 million} ceasing on 31 January 2025 in line with
the recovery plan dated 6 October 2021. In 2022, the Group made contributions of US $0.6 million to the UK scheme, The
Group expects te make contributions of US $1.2 million in 2023.

In addition, Scheme expenses, Pension Protection Fund Levies and insurance premiums are paid directly by the Group.
Contributions to the Scheme are subject to review at future actuarial valuations and subsequent certification of a new
schedule of contributions.

The tiabilities of the Scheme are based on the current value of expected benefit payment cashflows to members of the
Scheme. On the chosen 1AS 19 assumptions the average duration of the fiabilities to the beneficiaries at 31 December 2022
is approximately 19 years.
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Total pension cost for the period ended 31 December 2022
The pension expense relating to defined benefit schemes, recognized in the Group statement of profit or loss consists of:

uUs Smillion
Defined benefit schemes
Defined benefit scheme — current service cost 0.5
Net pension intqrest cost N e 0.1
?er;sic;ﬁ._;;s;c iﬁcludea in operating profit S S 06 )

The current service cost, past service cost and scheme administration costs are included in operating expenses in the Group
statement of profit or loss. Net pension interest cost is included in finance costs.

Actuarial gains and losses recognized directly in the Group statement of comprehensive income:

US Smillion
Cumulative fosses at 18 January 2022 -
Recognized gain/{loss) in the period 4 N S {1.3)
i:;r;url;itr;i;e ioé; ;t 3]: becember 2022 o S ) h (13)

Remeasurements of the net defined liability shown in the group statement of cemprehensive income are as follows:

L us $million

Nzt remeésurement — assumption changes R {9.2)
Net remeasurement — experience -
_Return on assets — gz«_:lﬂg interest income ] ) ) 10.5
Total remeasurement of the net defined liability shown in the group statement of other 13

comprehensive ingome

Employer contributions
In the period ended 31 December 2022, the Group made contributions of US $0.6 million to all defined benefit schemes of
which US $0.6 million relates ta the UK scheme.

Pension liability for defined benefit schemes
The amounts recognized in the statement of financial position for defined benefit schemes were as follows:

L B US $million
Fair value of scheme assets___ o o 50.3
Present value of funded defined benefit obligations ~(55.1)
Net liahility in the statement of financial position {4.8)

The fair vatue changes in the schemes are shown below:
US $million Fair value oafszzr; Deflnzc:’l?gear:?:: Total
At 18 January 2022 o - - -
Acquisitions 40.1 (43.8} (3.7)
Current service cost - {0.5) (0.5)
Net interest cost 1.2 (1.2} -
Actuarial gains/(losses) {10.5) 9.2 (1.3)
Contributions by the employer 0.6 - 0.6
Benefits paid (1.7) 2.0 03
Tax - 0.3 0.3
Effect of exchange rate changes on overseas schemes 20.6 (2r.1) . (0.5)

At 31 December 2022 n 50.3 (55.1) (4.8)

Composition of scheme assets in each category:
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Us Smillion uK Sweden scheme
scheme
Equities 16.4 14
Bonds 144 33
LDI 14.1 -
Structured products 0.7
Cash ) 02 oo
At 31 December 2022 45.1 5.4

The equities and bonds held within the UK and Swedish scheme are all quoted in active markets. The other schemes have no

assets. The actual return on scheme assets was as follows:

Us $millien schenl"\: Sweden scheme
Actual return for the period 10.0 0.4
The pension surplus/{deficit) of each scheme at 31 December was as follows:

Us $million sche:lg i:lheedni: iil::qr:r:;
Present value of funded defined benefit oblié;tions T (46.8) (7.4) (U,_?.)_
Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligations 0.0 0.0 (0.5)
Fair value of scheme assets 451 5.1 O.Q
Net Defined Benefit liability at 31 December 2022 (1.7) (2.3) (0.8)

Principal actuarial assumptions:
UK Sweden Germany
Discount rate 5.0% 4.1% 3.8%

inflation rate 3.2% 2.2% 2.0%
Rate of salary increases 2.6% 2.4% 2.0%
Life expectancy for pensianers at the age of 65 (years):

Male 22.2 22.2 20.6
Female 24.6 24.6 24.0

Changes in significant assumptions would have the following impact on the defined benefit obligations at 31 December 2022:

US Smillion UK Scheme Sweden Scheme

0.25% 0.25% 0.50% 0.50%

Assumptions . ;
ncrease Decrease Increase decrease
Discount rate 1.3 (1.3) (0.7} 0.6
Inflation rate 1.0 {1.0) 0.5 {0.6)
___Rate{of sa_Iar_y increases - n/a D/i, o2z (70.73}
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
by cne year by one year by one year by one year
sm sm Sm sm
Assumed life expectancy at age 65 1.2 n/a 0.3 (0.3)
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Right of use asset Totalat 31
In US $million Property Non-property December 2022
Cost
As at 18 January 2022 - -
Acquisitions (note 5) 174.1 3.6 177.7
Additians 4.9 Q0.5 5.4
Disposals {0.5} (0.5)
Revaluation 4.8 0.2 50
Exchange movements (3.6) (3.6}
As at 31 December 2022 179.7 4.3 184.0
Accumulated Depreciation
As at 18 January 2022 - - B
Charge for the period 17.6 1.2 18.8
Disposals {0.5) - (0.5)
Exchange movements {0.1) (0.1)
As at 31 December 2022 17.0 1.2 18.2
Net book value
As at 31 December 2022 162.7 31 165.8
Lease Liabilities Total at 31
In US Smillion December 2022
As at 18 lanuary 2022 -
Acquisitions (note 5) 168.3
Additions 11.3
Interest 5.8
Payment {19.4)
Disposals {2.5)
Exchange movements (3.2)
As at 31 December 2022 160.3
Total
Lease Liabilities Within 1 year 2 -5 vyears 5+ years USs Smillion
Property 27.0 75.4 54.7 157.1
Non-property 16 1.6 3.2
31 December 2022 28.6 77.0 54.7 160.3

Interest expense on the lease liabilities recognized within finance costs was US $5.8 million. As at 31 December 2022, there
were no leases which the Group was committed to with future cash flows which have not been accounted for. The Group
also has certain leases with fease terms of 12 months or less and leases of office equipment with low value. The total expense
recognized for these leases was US $0.3 million. The Group holds no variable leases.

The Group subleases vacant space available within its leased and owned properties. I[FRS 16 specifies conditions whereby 3
sublease is classed as an operating lease for the sub-lessor. The operating lease income recognized was US 50.6 million.
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30, Commitments and contingent habilities

The Group signed a Senior Facilities Agreement, with the institutional lenders in order to secure the credit facilities. The SFA
names specific entities of the Group that may borrow under the various facilities of the agreement. In addition, all borrowings
under the SFA are subject to security over material subsidiaries across the Group, subject to certain exclusions. Material
subsidiaries of the Group, as defined by the SFA, are the guarantors ta any borrowings. Security will only be enforceable on
the occurrence of an Event of Defauit as defined by the SFA,

At 31 December 2022, the Group has a US $22.9 million, tetter of credit outstanding.

The Group is involved in a number of claims and an investigation in relation to advisory services, in the Built Environment
end-market, provided in the ordinary course of its business. The Company provided for its best estimate of amounts expected
to be paid that can be measurad reliably {(note 19). It is not possible, at this time, to measure reliably other pessible outflows
arising from these claims, nor can the timing of possible cutflows be determined, as the Company is not yet in receipt of all
the relevant infermation for these matters. Therefore, the Company has contingent liabilities, in respect of these matters
and outflows of cash are possible. The Company and the Directors expect that insurance cover in place will mitigate any
potential impact of cash outflow in relation to some of these matters.

Capital commitments of the Group as at 31 December 2022 is US $15.1 million,

31 Subsidianes and associated companias

The Group’s and Company’s subsidiaries are listed below. Al of these subsidiary undertakings are controlled by EM Midco2
Limited and were consolidated at 31 December 2022 in the Group accounts.

N i i P rti .
am-e . . Country of !ncor;_:oratlon or roportion Activity  Registered Address
Continuing businesses registration Held
. . 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DE
Agrius Group, LLC United States 100% Testing g ree fiming fggnl
Holdi L, Wilmi
Analytical Lab Group, LLC United States 100% olding 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DE
Company 19801
BM TRADA Certification . o . 820 Bear Tavern Road, Mercer County,
North America Inc. United States 100% Testing West Trenton NJ 08628
780 Commercial Street SE, Suite 100
: o . i
Cascade Methods, LLC United States 100% Dermant Salern OR 97301
2479 Woodview Lane, Ann Arbor Ml
Chemvent, LLC United States 100% Testing VIew
48108
. . 7700 E. Arapahoe Road, Suite 220,
L "
Clinimark, LLC United States 100% Testing Centennial, CO 80112
40600 Ann Arber Road East, Suite 201, Pl
! . o ! s ,
CRL-B, LLC United States 100% Testing ymouth M1 48170
15W 5 B
CS USA Corporation United States 100% Certification 601 5W Second Ave Ste 2100, Partland
OR 97204
Element Materials
12090 Street, Wilmington DE
Technology Aerospace US United States 100% Testing range stree fimington
15301
LLC
Element Materials Testing and
Technology Ann Arbor LLC United States 100% inspection 4840 Venture Drive, Ann Arbor M| 42108
{formerly Avomeen, LLC) operations
Element Materials .
155 Federal , 700, 8 MA
Technology Boston-Acton United States 100% Testing ederal Street, Suite 700 OSt%r;uO
Inc.
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Name Country of incorperaticn or Proportion - i
Activit Registered Addre
Continuing businesses registration Held crivity egistere ress
Element Materials Testing and 1833 South Mergan Road, Oklahoma Cit
Technology Broken Arrow, United States 100% inspection 8 ’ Y
) 0K 73128
LLC operations
Element Materials . . . 150 West Market Street, Suite 800napolis
Torhnnlngy Chiragn |11 United States 100% Testing IN 46204
Test d
Element Materials United States 1009 ;s”:agc‘:;n 440G Easton Commans Way, Suite 125,
Technology Cincinnati Inc. ? P A Columbus OH 43219
operations
Element Materials R
4400 Easton C W Suite 12
Technology Cleveland - United States 100% Testing aston Dmmc(:gr;zmtjjé Oi:-ll :32159'
Middleburg Heights Inc.
Testi d . .
Elerment Materials United States 100% i]ssllgczgn 160 Mine Lake Court, Suite 200, Raieigh
Technolegy Cleveland Inc. ? pedt NC 27615
aperations
Testi d
Element Materials Unitad States 100% ie:sllgc?ign 19111 Dallas Parkway Suite 320, Dallas TX
Technology Dallas Inc. o pect 75287
operations
Testi d
Element Materials United States 100% ;S;”;gc::m 40600 Ann Arbour Road, East Suite 201,
Technology Detroit LLC ? P . Plymouth M) 48170
operations
Element Materials . " I 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DE
% tification
Technology Food US LLC United States 100% Certificati 19801
Element Materials Unitad States 100% Tr:'li;g: 150 West Market Street, Suite 800napolis
Technology Fort Wayne LLC o pec IN 46204
operations
Element Materials . .
Technology Group US United States 100% Hoiding 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DE
Haldings Inc Company 13801
Element Materials . . One Constitution Plaza, Hartford CT
United Stat 100% Testin
Technology Hartford Inc nited states ’ I8 06103-1919
Etement Materials . o Holding 1209 Orange Street, City of Wilmington,
Technology Holding USA Inc. United States 100% Company County New Castle DE 19801
. Testing and . . .
Etement Materials . . . 160 Mine Lake Court, Suite 200, Raleigh
United States 100% inspection
Technology Houston LLC : ° n . NC 27615
operations
Element Materials Testingand ¢ Mine Lake Court, Suite 200, Raleigh
Technology Huntington United States 100% inspection ’ N’C 276?5
Beach LLC operations
Testi d ) .
Element Materials United States 100% ie:sllgc:;n 1200 South Pine Island Road, Plantation
Technology Jupiter LLC y P ) FL 33324
operations
Element Materials United States 100% T?::'Zi:g: 3867 Plaza Tower Drive, Baton Reouge LA
o
Technology Lafayette, LLC P ) 70816
operations
Element Materials United States 100% Certification 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DE
Technology Life Sciences LLC 7 19801
Testi d
Element Materials United States 100% ienss”;gc:SZn 330 N Brand Bivd., Glendale CA 91203~
Technology Los Angeles LLC ? R . 2336
operations
Element Materials . . 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, DE
00% Testin
Technology Milpitas Inc. United States 100% € 19808
Element Materials Testing and 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DE
Technology Minneapolis - United States 100% inspection ! 19801
Eagan Inc. operations
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m . . .
Na .e . ) Country of !nCOfPoratlon or  Proportion Activity  Registered Address
Continuing businesses registration Held
Element Materials _ Testing and 1010 Dale Street North, Saint Paul MN
. . United States 100% inspection
Technology Minneapolis inc. ) 55117
operations
Testj
Element Materials ! ?S Ng a.nd 1010 Dale Street North, Saint Paul MN
. . United States 100% inspection
Technology Minneapolis LLC ) 55117
operations
Testing a
Element Materials _ estingand 1 < Bedford Street, Suite 1, Madison Wi
. United States 100% inspection
Technology New Berlin Inc. operations 53703
Element Materials Testing and i )
. . 1285 Corporate Cente e, Suite 110,
Technology Gakland - United States 100% inspection P r Drive, Su
. Eagan MM 55121
Concord Inc. operations
Element Materials . o T 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DE
L , Certificat ’
Technology Pharma US LLC United Sfates 100% ertiication 19801
$§c:egltoMalt=‘Z:‘?l‘asnd United States 100% T:Ens:neitaigi 780 Commercial Street SE, Suite 100,
nelogy . pec] Salem OR 97301
Evergreen Inc. operations
Testi
Element Materials United States 100% :’:;li;g: 780 Commercial Street SE, Suite 100,
Technology Portland Inc. nite i pec Salem OR 97301
operations
Testing and ) . .
Element Materials ) o . ) 160 Mine Lake Court, Suite 200, Raleigh
%
Technology St. Paul Inc. United States 100% mspec.tlon NC 27615
operations
Element Materials o
, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DE
Technology Transpertation United States 100% Testing & et, Wilming
Us LLC 15801
Element Materials
Tech i 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DE
LLC (inivu\;\f: Sc';;reg;c;r‘CEIECST United States 100% Testing ¥ e 15801
Engineering Laboratory, LLC)
Element Materials . o , 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DE
Technology Wilmingten inc. United States 100% Testing 10801
Elem ial Testing and 306 West Main Street, Suite 512,
Techremgltoryats;lao;n Inc. United States 100% inspegction Frankfort KY 40601
EM Mideco 2 US LLC United States 100% Holding 251 tittle Falls Drive, Wilmington, DE
Holdin 1209 QOrange Street, Wilmington DE
EMT Finance Inc. United States 100% g £ 8
Company 19801
. 289 South Culver Street, Lawrenceville GA
Energy Assurance LLC United States 100% Testing
30046
Little Falls Dri ilmi DE
ETCR, Inc. United States 100% Testing 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmingtan,
19808
Holdi 1209 Qrange Street, Wiimington DE
Exova (US) Holdings Inc. United States 100% ne & ® 8
Company 19801
. 1209 Orange Street, Wilmingtan 2E
Exova, Inc. United States 100% Testing & g
19801
780 Commercial Street SE, Suite 100
. o , s
Front Range Methads, LLC United States 100% Dormant Salern OR 97301
Holding 1209 Orange Street
. . o
Greenrock Finance, Inc, United States 100% Company Wilmington DE 19801
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Name Country of incorporation or Proportion - .
Continuing businesses registration Held Activity  Registered Address
Herculean US Holdings, Inc. United States 100% Holding 1209 Orange street, Wilmington OE
Company 19801
Impact Analytical, Inc. United States 100% Testing 1940 N Stark Road, Midland M! 48641
. . . Tasting and
J M biol Institut . ) )
I::es icrobiology Institute United States 100% inspection 400 E Court Avenue, Des Maines 1A 50309
' operations
Linbob, LLC United States 100% Dormant 447 Center Street, Manchester CT 06040
. ) . 4400 Easton Commons Way, Suite 125,
McCloy E , LLC States 100%
cClay kngineering, LLC United State Dormant Columbus OH 43219
. 4400 Easton Commons Way, Suite 125
Merel Vent LLC United Stat 100% ! ’
orel Ventures, i es 00% Dormant Columbus OH 43219
MRA Acquisition Corp. United States 100% Holding 1203 Crange street, Wilmington DE
Company 19801
Testi
Nanoscale Combinatorial United States 100% ?::Izgcgzg 3800 North Central Avenue, Suite 460,
Synthesis, Inc. ° pec Phoenix AZ 85012
operations
Nat | lity A -
UaS i:njn?ua 'ty Assurance United States 100% Testing 289 Great Road, Acton MA 01720
National Technical Systems, L United States 100% Testing 330 N Brand Blvd., Suite 700, Glendale CA
LC 91203
NEST Parent, Inc. United States 100% Holding 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, DE
Company 19808
NTS Engi i i | . I ive, Wilmi ,
ngineering Services, Inc United States 100% Testing 251 tittle Falls Drive, Wilmington, DE
19808
. R . Holding 2125 East Katella Ave., Suite 250, Anahei
10,
NTS Holding Corporation, Inc. United States 100% Company m CA 92806
NTS Labs, LLC United States 100% Testing -0 N Brand 8lvd,, Suite 700, Glendale CA
91203
NTS Technical Systems, LLC United States 100% Testing 28 Liberty Street, New York NY 10005
[{{aall E
PCAS-Nanosyn, LLT United States 100% Testing 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington D
19801
PCTEST Holdings Inc. United States 100% Holding 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DE
Company 19801
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Name Country of incorporation or Proportion L .
Continuing businesses registration Held Activity  Registered Address
. . . 2125 East Katella Ave., Suite 250, Anahei
Preferred Testing Labs (nc. United Stat 100% Testin ’ !
ng Labs (nc nited States l & m CA 92806
Primetima Testj :
v, Inc ing Laberator United States 100% Testing 289 Great Road, Acton MA 01720
. . 40600 Ann Arbor Road East, Suite 201, PI
RTC-K, LLC United States 100% Testin ! :
i o g ymouth M| 48170
. . . 40600 Ann Arbor Road East, Suite 201, PI
Trialon Corporati % Testi ! g
poration United States 100% esting ymouth MI 48170
i i Holdi ilmi
Trialon Holding Company United States 100% olding 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DF 1380
Company 1
itek T . ) ) o
Unitek Technical Services, Ing United Statas 100% Testing 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, DE
19808
. ! 601 SW Secend Ave Ste 2100, Portland
Validation Reso i % Test y
urces, LLC United States 100% sting OR 97204
Accusense Systems . 3rd Floor, Davidson Buiiding, 5
: . : % D ,
Limited** United Kingdom 100% ermant Socuthampton Street, London, WC2E 7THA
Aerotech (nspection & NDT . o 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
: . % D ) f
Limited** United Kingdom 100% ormant Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
I ) . 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
* % 0, ’ ’
Agile Five Ltd United Kingdom 100% Dormant Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Warwick House Houghton Hall Park, Houg
Ascertiva Limited** United Kingdom 100% Dormant hton Regis, Dunstable, Bedfordshire, LUS
57X
BM TRADA Certification . . " 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Limited** United Kingdom 100% Dormant Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
RADA e . ) o f
BM TRADA Group Limited United Kingdom 100% Dormant Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
BM TRADA Overseas , . o Holding 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, S
Limited*** United Kingdom 100% Company Southampton Street, Lendon, WC2E 7HA
Catalyst Envirohmental . ; o 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Limited** United Kingdom 100% Dormant Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Chiltern House Stocking Lane, Hughenden
CCB Evolution Limited* * United Kingdomnt 100% Dormant  Valley, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire,
HP14 AND
Certifire Limited** United Kingdom 100% Dormant 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5

Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7THA
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C i i rtion
Nam'e _ ) ountry of [ncorp':oratlon or Propo Activity Registered Address
Continuing businesses registration Held
Chiltern International Fire . 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
United Kingd 100% D t ! g
Limited** nited Ringeom ° erman Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
N . ) Rosewell House, 2A {1F) Harvest Crive
Cra fic Hold . . Hold ; re '
rawford Scientific Holdings United Kingdom 100% ng Newbridge, Midlothian, EH28 8Q),
Limited Company Scotland
Element Digital Engineering L
imited . . ) 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
. United Kingd 100% Test ’ !
{Previously called Norton nited Ringdom ¢ esting Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Straw Consultants Ltd)
Element Materials : : Haoiding 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
United Kingd % ’ g
Technology (Mexico) Ltd.*** g ingcom 106% Company Southampten Street, London, WC2ZE 7HA
Element Materials United Kingdom 100% Tiensst”;gcgz: 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Technotogy Aberdeen Ltd E ° P . Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
operations
Element Materials
. . ) 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
00% T
I;;:lzziogy Aerospace UK United Kingdom 100% esting Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Element Materials Technolog
i . L Testi
orevaty el United Kingdom oo et 3rdt Floor, Davidson Building, 5
sy ) & ¢ pec Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Analytical Laboratories operations
Limited)
Element Materials :
3rd Floar, Davidsan Building, 5
hnoi Cambri : ingd 0 Tasti , .
T_ec» noiogy Cambridge UK United Kingdom 100% esting Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Limited***
Element Materials .
. . ) ) Heolding 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
0,
Tgchnolf*g: China Holding United Kingdom 100% Company Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Limited
Element Materials .
. . ‘ 3rd Fioor, Davidson Building, 5
H 0,
TechAno.Iogy Environmental United Kingdom 100% Testing Southampton Streat, London, WC2E 7HA
UK Limited
Element Materials . . o 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Technology G.C. Ltd** United Kingdom 100% Dormant Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Element Materials ) . o
. . R Holding 3rd Fioor, Davidson Building, 5
Technology Group Holdings United Kingdom 100%
CC1 Limited*** Company Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Element Materials
i 3rd Ft David Building,
Technology Group Holdings United Kingdom 100% C:nﬁld;:g Southam tc:n St?::t L?::\:di(:mn thlzdén?gHi
CC2 Limited*** pany P ’ '
Element Materials .
; . . Holding 3rd Fioor, Davidson Building, 5
2,
T.ecrmology Group Holdings United Kingdom 100% Company Southampten Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Limited***
Element Materials United Kingdam 100% Tiens:llg;iz: 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Technology Limited *** nited King ? P A Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
operations
Testi d . .
Element Materials United Kingd 100% s mgsnn 3rd Floar, Davidson Building, 5
Technology Hitchin Limited : Ingcam ° :I;;Sepr::i::\s Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
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Name Ceuntry of incorporation or Proportion L .
Continuing businesses registration Held Activity  Registered Address
Element Materials

. ) ) Holding 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Technology Holding UK United Kingd k ! §
Leg*++ 8Y ng nited Ringeom 100% Company Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Element Materials Technolog
y Laboratory Instrumentation . ) e L ird +oor, Davidson Building, 5

d o,

UK Limited {Previously called United Kingdom 100% Certification Scuthampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Anatune Limited)
Element Materials Techno!

Eabo:ator Sglau:io?s: J’?Lc;g Rosewell House, 2A (1F) Harvest Drive,
zﬁted (formverly Crawford United Kingdom 100% Testing Newbridge, Midlothian, EH28 8QU,
Scientific Limited} Scotland
Element Materials Technolog Testing and
y Life Sciences EMEAA Limite United Kinedom 100% ins egction 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
d {formerly Arch Sciences g ’ P i Scutharmpton Street, London, WC2E 7THA
Group Limited}*** operations
Element Materials

. ) Holding 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Technol 5 s )
Lier:;itzzf"‘gr Group United Kingdom 100% Company Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Element Materials
) . ) . 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Technol K % ’ ’
E-ieniitr;z cgy Cil & Gas U United Kingdom 100% Testing Seuthampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Flement Materials
) . . 3rd Fioor, Davidson Building, 5
Tech % Non-
ue:itr;c;lfﬁg: Shared Services United Kingdom 100% on-Trading Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
. Testi L
Element Materials United Kinedom 100% ﬁ.ssmei;gg 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Technology Sheffield Ltd B ? P ) Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
operations
. Testi . .
Element Materials United Kinedom 100% i\sslr;gczgz 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Technology Warwick Ltd 8 ? peact Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
operations
Element Materials
. ) ) 3rd Floor, Davidson Buitding, 5
United 1009 ’ '
an::lzﬁlogy Wednesbury nited Kingdom 00% Testing Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
. o . ) Holding 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
EX TS 0,
EM 8idco Limited United Kingdom 100% Company Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
. 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
i *x i i 9 ’ ’
EMC Projects Limited United Kingdom 100% Dormant Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
} . . ) Holding 3rd Floor, Davidson Buiiding, 5
ke S, ’
EMT 2 Holdings Limited United Kingdom 100% Company Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
. - . ) Holding 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
ok G,
EMT Finance 1 Limited United Kingdom 100% Company Southampton Street, London, WC2E THA
. o . ) Halding 3rd Floor, Davidson Buiiding, 5
Ak 0,
EMT Finance 2 Limited United Kingdom 100% Company Southampton Street, London, WC2E THA
L. . . Holding 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
s Rk 2
EMT FX EUR Limite United Kingdom 100% Company Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
3rd Floor, Davi Building, 5
EMT FX GBP Limited** United Kingdom 100% Dormant rd Fioor, Davidson Building

Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
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Name
Continuing businesses

Country ot incorporation or

registration

Proportion
Held

Activity

Registered Address

EMT FX USD Limited**

EMT Holdings Limited***

Envirodat Limited***

Environmental Evaluation
Limited™**

Exova (UK) Limited

Exova 2014 Limited***

Exova Group (UK} Limited***

Exova Group Limited¥**

Exova Treasury Limited***

FIRA Internaticnal Limited

Firas Limited**

Friiscan Limited***

Greenrock Bidco Limited***

Greenrock Midco Limited***

Greenrock Topco Limited***

IMS Reliance Limited**

Insight N.D.T. Limited**

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdem

United Kingdom

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

1G0%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Darmant

Hoiding
Company

Testing and
inspection
operations

Dormant

Holding
Company

Testing

Testing

Testing

Non-Trading

Testing

Dormant

Testing and
inspection
operations

Holding
Company

Halding
Company

Holding
Company

Daermant

Dormant

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Southampten Street, London, WC2E 7HA

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Southamptoen Street, London, WC2E 7HA

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA

Lochend Industrial Estate, Queen Anne
Drive, Newbridge, Midlothian, EH28 8LP

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, S
Southampten Street, London, WC2E 7THA

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA

3rd Floor, Davidsan Building, 5
Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, S
Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Scuthampton Street, London, WCZE 7HA

3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Scuthampton Street, London, WCZE 7HA

Warwick House Houghton Hail Park, Houg
hton Regis, Dunstable, Bedfordshire, LUS
5ZX

3rd Floor, Davidsen Building, 5
Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
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Namfe _ ) Country of !ncor?oration ar Praportion Activity Registered Address
Continuing businesses registration Held
00 S Tt
%}E}f{;ﬁfﬁf&?ﬁf&f Unite Kingdor jo0%  bormam  3rdFloor Davidion Buldng 5
MERL Technology Limited** United Kingdam 100% Dormant ¢ o SC:: SFLS:;DLZVAZZT aﬁlzdénfﬁf\
o It o o s
N.D.T. (Holdings} Limited*** United Kingdom 100% C:rslp?e::s Sourhamptag: ;i?:er:c,DLz\:gi?: \?Vi‘ggjéanz
N.D.T. Limited** United Kingdom 100% Dormant Sourhampi:: ;:;;f;‘:}'gi‘i‘” a“ci;dé”f;iz
:J:i:;c;”a' Quality Assurance Li United Kingdom 100% Testing :Utir: ;Zkg:?giiStzz;ggtgzdiglrldps:féi%uf
5ZX
Warwick House Houghton Hall Park, Houg
NQA Certification Limited United Kingdom 100% Certification  hton Regis, Dunstable, Bedfordshire, LUS
5ZX
mieges United Kingdom 0% Domant e rees London, WO T
ettt Unied Kingelor 100% DOmANG (o Stees, London, WesE 1A
TRaC Gilobal Limited** Uniteg Kingdom 100% Dormant Southampt?’;: ;:;};i?:jzz? \;Bvlglzdén?gHi
Lmede e Uniad Kingdom 100%  DOMMANT (o ton Strech, London, WEZE 1A
Lt Urites Kingtor 1006 DOMANT o ton Stk London, WEat A
TRADA Technology Limited** United Kingdom 100% Dormant Southampf’g: ;‘::;f;:gi‘;” i‘gg"ﬁ;:
U.K. First Limited** United Kingdom 100% Dormant 3rd Floor, Davidson Buiiding, 5

Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
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Wafr(ng,“t:n Apt Laboratories United Kingdomn 100% Dormant 3rd Floor, Davidson Building, 5
Limited Southampton Street, London, WC2E 7HA
Warring;cfn Certification United Kingdom 100% Dormant Holmesfield Road, Warrington, Cheshire,
Limited WA1 2DS
Produts K imitedvee United Kingdom 1006 oty southampion Stech Loncon, WCSE TR
Conta (ondon) Lymed United Kingdom W06 DOt (e s, London, WCSE THA
Comtre e United Kingdorn W0 Domant e, London, WCSE TiA
Comuttants Lmteaee United Kingelor 100% DOMMIN o oton Streck, London, WCAE A
g’?art:;)nﬁt:l?tn:gfﬁesearm United Kingdom 100% CoHrzlpdaiEi Southamptgc:: g'lcf’)::tii\:gsc‘;? \iflglzdéani
e e United Kingdorn 100% TeSIE G oharmpron Sirest, London, WeaE THA
Contication Lnted United Kingetom 100% TESI ¢ nampron sreet, London, WESE THA
i e United Kingdom 0% DO e Sureeh, Lomdon, WAt A
DEFIRE (ACT) PTY LTD Australia 100% Dormant Unit 2, 409'321::&?;3?:;? :
DEFIRE (NSW) PTY LTD Australia 100% Dormant Unit 263.?3;&:;?::3?;30;%
DEFIRE (QLD) PTY LTD Australia 100% Darmant Unit ZS:SE;iti::Q,ThOCT’c?;dé
DEFIRE (WA} PTY LTD Australia 100% Dormant Unit ZE')::j;i:;x:hoofci"f?ds‘
DEFIRE Holdings PTY LTD Australia 100% cg”f:g’;:i Unit 26;?3:]&:g:uTh"CfCR;la?ds’
Exova Certifire Pty Ltd Australia 100% Dormant Unit 2, 409-%21:2&:1:3?:;13:5’
Warringtonfire Australia Pty Australla 100% Testing Unit 2, 409-411 Hammond Road,

Ltd

Dandenong VIC 3175
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Name Country of incorporation or  Proportion Activit Registered Address
Continuing businesses registration Held v g
. Testing and
Ele t Materials . . .
Tecr;]sglo aAen:jver en NV Belgium 100% inspection Herentalsebaan 406, 2160 Womimelgem
BY P V. operations
. Ottergemsesteenweg-Zuid 711 Ghent
WFRGent NV lgium 00% lTest i
Belgiu 100% esting Flemish Region 9000
BM TRADA Certification Canada 100% Certification 398-2416 Main Street, Vancouver BC V5T
Canada Inc 3E2
Element Materials . 2395 Speakman Drive, Mississauga ON
Canad 100% Test !
Technology Canada Inc. anada ’ esting L5K 183
Property 2395 Speakman Drive, Mississauga ON
Exova Property Heldings Inc Canada 100% Holding P M &
L5K 1B3
Company
Nat | Technical Syst C ) 2425 boul. Industriel, Ch I L
ational Technical Systems Canada 100% Testing oul. Industriel, Chambly QC 1314w
anada Inc. 3
LN&t-l‘—C;:il Technical Systems § Canada 100% Testing
Element Materials . Holding PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Technology ME Limited Cayman islands 100% Company Cayman, KY1-1104
: o PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
O,
Warringtonfire Limited Cayman Islands 100% Dormant Cayman, KY1-1104
Element Materials Testing and
A . . . t Fl , Building Ne. 7, No. 398
Technology (Shanghai} Co., China 100% inspection Sonayin lsRoagoéigm u!Bigstricct Sh:n hgai
Ltd. operations gying ’ &P ' &
Elament Materials No. 39 Giming Road, Shengpu Town,
Technology (Suzhou) Co., Ltd China 100% Testing Suzhou Industrial Park, Suzhou, Jiangsu
&Y R Province
) B818, Languang Technclogy Park, No. 7
?fcrﬁnegfomaéigiifhen e China 100% Testing Xinxi Road, High-tech Industrial Park,
gy Nanshan, Shenzhen, 518000
Element Metech
7 T No.7
Measurement Technology China 100% Testing RDO[T] 1719, 17F, ¢1, ED.A MSD' 0.79
Services [Tianjin} Co., Ltd First Avenue, TEDA, Tianjin, 300457
Shanghai NQA Certificatton C China 50% Certification Room 1, 5/F, No 985 Dongfang Road, Puq
o., Ltd. ang New Zone, Shanghai
Tianjin C-Kai BM TRADA Raom 708, Suite F Hai Tai Plaza, No.8 Hua
Certification Company China 40% Certification Tian Road, Tianjin , Hua Yuan Industrial
timited™ Zone
Element Materials . . .
Technoiogy Pilsen 5.r.0 Czech Republic 100% Testing Podnikatelska 1184/39, Plzen, 301 00
Element Metech s.r.o. Czech Republic 100% Testing Touzimska 767, Letnany, Praha 9, 19900

139
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Name Country of incorporation or Proportion Activit Registered Address
Continuing businesses registration Held ¥ g
i -7470, Herni i
Element Metech A/S Denmark 100% Testing Flyvestation, Karup, DK 0, Herningvej
30, Karup
Element Metech Oy Finland 100% Testing Kuormakuja, Nummelz, 03100
Element Materials 3 Avenuye Andre Marie Ampére, Zone
T ech:olo FEr:e:nce SAS France 100% Testing  dActivité Commerciale du Perget , 31770,
& 8Y Colomiers
£l  Material 3 Avenue André Marie Ampere, Zone
- en;enl aTen? > SAS France 100% Testing  d'Activité Commerciale du Perget, 31770,
echnology Toulouse Colomiers
Elfcnr::crjlltozqya;z{l:::GmbH Germany 160% Testing Carl-Zeiss-StraRBe 17, 73431, Aalen
. Testing and
Elen':enlt MatBE{r'Iai:mebH Germany 100% inspection Friedrich-Wohler-Str. 1, 12485, Berlin
echnology e operations
! Testing and
Elenl;\enlt Ma't_{e”'as GmbH Germany 100% inspection Tempowerking 11, 21079, Hamburg
echnolegy Hamburg Gm operations
Element Materials Testing and
Technology Holding Germany Germany 100% inspection Tempowerkring 11, D-2107%, Hamburg
GmbH operations
Element Materials German 100% Ts‘:‘negc:z: Gustav-Hertz-Strasse. 35, 94315,
Technology Straubing GmbH ¢ ¥ ? P ) Straubing, Bavaria
operations
. Hans-Bockler, Ring 9, D-22851,
Element Metech GmbH Germany 100% Testing J
Norderstedt
él;)ﬂKbﬁahbnermenst Kopp Gaermany 100% Certification in den Ziegelwiesen 25, 69168 , Wiesloch
NTS Eurcpe GmbH Germany 100% Testing
Warringtonfire Frankfurt . ) Industriepark, Hochst, Geb. €369, am
GrmhbH Germany 100% Testing Main, 65926 Frankfurt
Warringtonfire Holdings ) Holding Industriepark, Hochst, 65926, Geb. €369,
GmbH Germany 100% Company Frankfurt
Warringtonfire Consulting ) ) PO Box 286, Fleor 2, Trafalgar Court, Les
ME Limited Guernsey 160% Testing Bangues , St Peter Port, GY1 4LY
Holding Unit €, 18/F Infotech Centre, 21 Hung To
. - o
Certifire (Hong Kong} Limited Hong Kong 100% Company Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon
] . . ) . 1
FIRA-CMA Testing Services Hang Kong 50% Testing Room 1401-3 Yan Hing Centre, 9-13

Limited™

Wong Chuk Yeung Street, Fo Tan, Shatin
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Nam.e _ ) Country of !ncor;‘mratlon or Proportion Activity  Registered Address
Continuing businesses registration Held
: p ficati
Warringtonfire Certification Unit C, 18/F Infotech Centre, 21 Hung To
and Inspection Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Dormant
Limited Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon
Warringtonfire Hong Kong o . Unit C, 18/F Infotech Centre, 21 Hung To
Limited Hong Kong 100% Testing Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon
M TRADA RKCA i . .
gertifications Private tndia 50% Certification 515 Tulsiani thampbers, Nariman Point,
Limited ? Mumbai, 400021, India
imite
Metallurgical Services Private ) o . Mehta House, Ashok Silk Mills Lane,
% Test
Limited ndia 100% esting Khatkopar (West), Mumbai, 20086
NQA Certification Private Lim . N No 5, 15/1, 8TH Main Road, RPC Layout, B
ited india 100% Testing engaluru, Karnataka, 560040
Element Materials o \ Unit D8, North City Business Park, North
Technology Ireland Limited reland 100% Testing Road, Finglas, Dublin 11, D11Y267
Element Materials Technolog
y Laberatory Solutions Irelan o . Unit F12, Maynooth Business Campus,
d Limited (formerly Apex ireland 1oo% Testing Maynaoth, Co. Kildare, WR23R1H2
Scientific Limited)
Warringtonfire Consuiting . ) Unit D8, North City Business Park, North
Ireland Limited Ireland 100% Testing Road, Finglas, Dublin 11, D11 Y267
C.T.R.S.R.L. Italy 100% Testing Via Visco 7/A, 35010, Limena (PD})
Element Materials o . . oo
v ilaP 9/11, 26013, Crema
Technology Mitan S.r.. Italy 100% Testing ia deila Pierina 9/
Element Kamisu fapan Testing and
{formerly PCTEST Japan Co., Japan 100% inspection 1797-8 Ohata, Kamisu-shi, Ibaraki-ken
Ltd.) operations
2nd Floor, International House, 41 The Pa
. . . .
Stockbridge 2022 Limited Jersey 100% Testing rade, St Helier, JE2 30Q
Element Materials Technolog
y Suwan. Ltd. . o . 13, Heungdeok 1-ro, Giheung-gu, Yongin-
{formerly PCTEST Korea Co., Republic of Korea 100% Testing si, Gyeonggi-do
Ltd.)
Flement Consiruction Testng Suite 2, 15t Floor, 21
n
' ’ Mataysi 100% Testin 1, Jalan Giam, Taman Majidee, 80250 Joh
{formerly ADMATERIALS ataysia ° 5 nal !
or Bahru, Johor
TFCHNOLOGIES SDN. BHD)
Suite 13.03, 13th Fleor, Menara Tan &
Exova (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100% Testing Tan, 207 lalan Tun Razak, 50400 Kuala
Lumpur
Element Materials Carretera Monterrey-Saltiflo 3279 8,
Technology Monterrey, 5. DE Mexico 100% Testing  Privada de Santa Catarina, Santa Catarina,
R.L.DE C.V. Nuevo Leon, C.P. 66367
Element Materials Hotdin
Technology Holding Netherlands 100% Compans Zekeringstraat 33, 1014 BV, Amsterdam

Netherfands B.V.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Namf’ ) ) Country of !ncnr;.:oranon or  Proportion Activity  Registered Address
Continuing businesses registration Held
. Testing and
Elenr:enf Ma;m::lsd BV Netherlands 100% inspection Sevillaweg 46, 3047 AL, Rotterdam
echnology Rotterdam B.V. operations
Holdi Herikerb A A, 1101
Herculean Testing Group B.V. Netherlands 100% olding erikerbergweg 238, Luna Arend,
Company CM, Amsterdam
Testing and . )
F kk
Exova Metech AS Norway 100% inspection Bygning 3, Fabrikkvegen 11, Rau;g;sé
operations
Eiement Materials . Muscat Governorate/Bawshar/Ghala, PO
70% Test !
Technology ME Limited LLC* Eman o g Box 3552, 7C 112
Street 46, Gate 16, Salwa Industrial Area,
- [
Element Doha LLC Qatar 24.50% Testing PO Box 23650
Warringtonfire Doha* Qatar 49% Testing P.C. Box 24863, Doha
Ef:;:;:iﬁ:;t:;ibla Saudi Arabia 50% Testing  Dammam, 2nd Industrial City, Road 76-27
ELEMENT CONSTRUCTION TE
STING {S) PTE. LTD. . o . 58 Sungei Kadut Loop, Prospaq Industrial
{formerly Admaterials Singapore 100% Testing Building, Singapore, 729501
Technologies Pte. Ltd.)
ELEMENT GEOLAB (5) PTE. LT
D, . o . 15 Kaki Bukit Road 4, #01-
%
{formerly GED LAB (S} PTE. Singapore 100% Testing 42, Bartley Biz Centre, 417808
LTD.}
ELEMENT GEOTECHNICALTE . . . .
kit A 1, Shun Li Indust
STING {S) PTE. LTD. Singapore 100% Testing 2L K@kl Bukit Avenue !“;ar'k "41“60;';
{formerly FOSTA PTE. LTD.) ’
Element Materials .
, 106 Tuas South Avenue 2, West Point
1 T O,
'erdchnology Singapecre Pte. Singapore 100% Testing Bizhub, 637158
ELEMENT TESTING SERVICES
{5) PT,E' LTD. . Singapore 100% Testing 249 Jalan Boon Lay, 619523
{Previously called Singapore
Test Services Private Limited)
Warringtonfire Singapore . . ) 9 Raffles Place, #26-01 Republic Plaza,
Pte. Ltd. singapore 100% Testing Singapore, 048619
Element Materials Unit D2 and D5, 9 Quantum Road,
Technology South Africa South Africa 89.55% Testing Firgrove Business PA, Somerset West,
Proprietary Limited* Western Cape, 7130
Element Materials . . . Wilburg y Orville Wright 1, Aeropolis,
Technalogy Seville S.L.U. Spain 100% Testing Seville, 41308, La Rinconada
8M TRADA RKCA Lanka No. 1041-2/1 Maradana Road, Borella
Certifications {Private) Sri Lanka 100% Certification ’ ’ ’
Limited Columbe 8
imited™
CSM NDT Certification AB* Sweden 80% Testing Artilleriplan 4 691, 50, Karlskoga
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Name Country of incorporation or  Proportion

Activi "
Continuing businesses registration Held ctivity  Registered Address

Element Materials

% . ) .
Technology AB Sweden 100% Testing Box 1340, 581 13, Linkoping
Element Materials .
. , Holding i .
Technclogy Swedon loldings Sveeden 100% Dua 1340, 581 13, Linkuping
Company
AB
Element Metech AB Sweden 100% Testing Box 1340, 581 13, Linkeping
. . Testing and :
Al Futtaim Element Materials . . Dubai Investments Park, P.O. Box 34924,
. United Arab Emirates 49% inspection "
Technology Dubai L.L.C.* ) Dubai
operations

* These companies are treated as subsidiaries in the results of the Group as effective control over their operations exists, as described
in the shareholder and management services agreements with the related parties.

** For the period ending 31 December 2022, this subsidiary of the Group was entitled to exemption from audit under s480 of the
Companies Act 2006 relating to dormant subsidiary companies.

*¥*¥For the year ended 31 December 2022, this subsidiary of the Group was exempt from the requirement for audit of individual
financial statements in accordance with section 479A of the Companies Act 2006. EM Midco2 Limited which provided the relevant
parent company guarantee required under section 479C of the Companies Act 2006 has indirect holdings in this subsidiary
undertaking.”

~ These are companies where the Group exercises joint control.
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EM Midca? Limited

COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2022

Note 2022
Us $million
Non-current assets
Amounts receivable from Group companies f 862.7
Investments in subsidiaries e 3456.1
4,318.8
Non-current liabilities
62.7
Amounts payable to other Group companies & ® )
(862.7)
Net current (liabilities)/assets -
Net assets 3,456.1
Equity
Share capital i 0.4
Share premium i 4,013 2
Retained earnings {557.5)
3,456.1

Total shareholders’ equity

The Company’s loss after tax for the period ended 31 Decernber 2022 was US $557.5 million.

The financial statements of EM Midco2 Limited {Company registration number 13856338} were approved by the Board of
Directors and authorized for issue on 26 September 2023. They were signed on its behalf by:

L’(/L('/t—

Ruth Prior
Director
26 September 2023
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EM Midco Limitad

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Period ended 31 December 2022

Share Total
Share capital premium Accumulated Loss US Smillion

As at 18 January 2022 - .
Total Comprehensive Loss {557.5) {557.5)
{ssue of shares 0.4 4,013.2 4,013.6
As at 31 December 2022 G.4 4,013.2 (557.5} 3,456.1

The notes on the following pages form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TC THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EM Midco2 Limited

[ N RS
oBAT R LT 2IZouUnt

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and under the historical cost convention in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and applicable FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”. As permitted by section
408 of the Companies Act 2006, no separate statement of profit or loss account is presented for the Company.

As permitted by FRS 1032, the Company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard in
relation to the presentation of a statement of profit or loss, a statement of cash-flow, financial instruments, standards not
yet effective, impairment of assets and related party transactions. Where reguired, equivalent disclosures are given in the
Group accounts of EMMidco2Llimited.

The Company was incorporated on the 18% of January 2022, This is the first peried that financial statements are being
prepared for the Company, and therefore no comparative information is presented.

Going concern

EM Midco?2 Limited (“Element”} is the holding company of the Group. The company's future viability is ultimately
dependent on the performance of the wider trading group and group management’s decisions an the flow of capital. The
Directors have carried out a review, including consideration of appropriate ferecasts and sensitivities, which indicates that
the company will have adequate resources to continue to trade for the foreseeable future,

A full description of the Group’s business activities, financial positien, cash flows, liquidity position, committed facilities
and borrowing position, together with the factors likely to affect its future development and performance, is set out in the
Strategic Report, including the Financial Review, in note 2.3 and in note 22 to the financial statements.

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared on a going concern basis. The directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Company has access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the fereseeable
future. The Company has a net assets position of US $3,456.1 million. The Directors considered the going concern status
of €M Midco2 Limited and on the basis that this campany is a holding company for the Group’s operating entities, going
concern assumptions and sensitivities discussed in this annual statement {note 2} are applicable from a standalone
company perspective. On that basis, the Directors are satisfied that the Company is a going concern for the periocd from
the date of signing these accounts to 315 December 2024.

Crasstnation i

P '
IS ORIRO LA S R RIS

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabifities or as equity in accardance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. Refer te note 26.

Loty struments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct 1ssue costs.

No gain or loss is recognized in the statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s cwn
equity instruments.
SR TRlIE S A Tl b

Vi ¥l 3

Investments are stated at cost less provision for impairment. The Company evaluates its investment in subsidiary for
impairment annually and records an impairment less when the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.

{0 Dhvedde s
Dividend income from investments is recognized when the sharsheclder’s right to receive payment has been established.

Final dividend distributions are recognized in the Company’s financial statements in the pericd in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’'s shareholders.
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EM Midco2 Limited

maomtsranzh g e froe Grows comanas
Amounts receivable from Group companies are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest method, less allowance. The Company applies IFRS 9 to measure expected cradit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivabies and contract assets.

St Ay Lrts man i o b O

STanTs payanhs TG COOEINICS

Amounts payable to Group companies are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method.

oo D oreotosT ol oo sy ey raman2TeT oy

No emoluments were paid directly by the Company; infermation on the directors’ remuneration can be found in Key
Management Remuneration in note 7 of the Consolidated Group Financial Statements. The Company has no employees.

o, Blatoo parios

The Company has taken advantage of the exemptions contained within paragraphs 8 (j) and (ki of FRS 101, and has not
disclosed transactions entered into with wholly owned group companies or key management personnel There were no other
related party transactions in the period.

-4 .y

% . [
- e " LYyl T el
PR W SO RN

SRy 2Tat

Fees payable te Ernst & Young LLP for the audit of the Company’s financial statements were borne by other companies
within the Group and disclosed in Note 7 of the Conselidated Group Financial Statements. There were no non-audit
services provided to the Company during the period.

P T I VIV -
ST IR depven

o 3 R Oy
2022
US $Smillion
Investments 4,013.6
Impairment R Tt 1
As zt 31 December 34561

The investment relates to direct holdings in EM Bidco Limited. Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the
Company are included in note 31.

The impairment is based on the fair value of the business units as per note 12 of the EM Midco2 Consolidated financial
statements. Refer to the note for the sensitivity of assumptions used.

fr a0 Lrsreceivab’s from Group companies

2022

US Smillion

Element Materials Bidco Ltd 862.7
As at 31 December 2022 862.7

The payable amount relates to intercompany loans that EM Midca2 Limited holds with other Element entities as set out
above. Loans carry a 10% interest rate and are repayable on maturity in 2032,

TILUNE O, 3000 0 Groun warpanios
2022
US Smillion
Element Materials Midco 1 Ltd (862.7)
As at 31 December 2022 (862.7)

The pavable amount refates to intercompany loans that EM Midco?2 Limited holds with other Element entities as set out
above. Loans carry a 10% interest rate and are repayable on maturity in 2032.
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£M Midco2 Limited

Share capital

Type . 2022 Total
Nominal value Issued number uss

Ordinary shares 0.0001 4,014,584,712 401,458
As at 31 December  4,014,584,712 401,458
$’000

Authorized, issued and fully paid, at 31 December 2022 401

4,014,584,712 Ordinary shares were issued during 2022 at US $1.00 inclusive share premium. The total share premium for
the shares issued in the period was US $4,013.2 million.

During the period $48.2 millicn of ordinary shares were issued in consideration of Element Materials Technology Group
Liruted acquisition (note 5).

Share premium

The share premium reserve contains the premium arising on issue of equity shares, net of 1ssue expenses.

VR IO T L TC TN T R

No significant events have cccurred after 31 December 2022 other than those disclosed in the censolidated group financial
statements.

el Uity s hotd 2 company an contoe’ g party

The immediate parent undertaking is EM Midce 1 Limited, which is incorporated in the United Kingdom. EM Midco2 Limited
is the smaliest group for which consolidated financial statements are prepared which includes the company. The ultimate
contrelling party of EM Midco?2 is Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited, a company incorperated in Singapore.
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